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Introduction by Accountable Officer 

These accounts cover the final seven month period leading up to the dissolution of London Probation 
Trust (“the Trust”) on 31 October 2014. The Trust was responsible for delivering Probation services in 
London in accordance with its contract with the Secretary of State. It ceased operations at the end of 
31 May 2014 on the expiry of the contract. 
 
On 1 June, the National Probation Service (NPS), which is a directorate within the National Offender 
Management Service (NOMS), began delivering probation services in relation to advising courts on 
sentencing and managing high risk offenders in the community, taking on the staff, operational activities 
and certain rights and obligations transferred from the Trust to the Secretary of State for Justice. 
 
The London Community Rehabilitation Company (“the CRC”) is one of 21 new companies set up to 
deliver rehabilitation services to lower risk offenders in the community in England and Wales. The CRC 
also commenced operations on 1 June, assuming responsibility for the relevant staff and activities 
transferred from the Trust. Immediately following the transfer from the Trust, the Secretary of State 
transferred certain of the Trust’s former rights and obligation to the CRC. 
 
In the rest of this document, transfers of staff, operational activities, rights and obligations from the Trust 
are referred to as being either to NOMS or to the CRC, to distinguish between those remaining with the 
Secretary of State and those transferred to the CRC. 
 
From 1 June, support was provided by staff who had transferred to the CRC to finalise the Trust’s 
Annual Report and Accounts for 2013–14, maintain financial records and prepare a Trust Report and 
Accounts for the period 1 April to 31 October 2014, and to transfer to NOMS and the CRC all remaining 
records and residual rights and obligations from the Trust. Heather Munro, the Trust’s Chief Executive 
and Accountable Officer, retired on 31 May 2014. Nick Smart, Chief Executive Officer of the London 
Community Rehabilitation Company, was appointed as Accountable Officer, continuing in post until 
31 July 2014. In addition, Sonia Crozier, Deputy Director for NPS South and South East and former 
Trust Deputy Chief Executive, was appointed Accountable Officer in relation to finalising the Trust’s 
Annual Report and Accounts for 2013–14. The appointments of the Trust’s Chair and the other Board 
members expired on 31 July 2014. A new Board, comprising senior NOMS and MoJ staff, was appointed 
with effect from 1 August 2014. I became the Acting Chief Executive and responsible Accountable 
Officer for the Trust following Nick Smart’s departure as Accountable Officer, and I take full responsibility 
for the Report and Accounts for the period to 31 October 2014. 
 
Between 1 June and 31 October, the Trust’s residual unsettled rights and obligations were transferred 
to the Secretary of State. On 31 October, the 35 Probation Trusts, including the Trust, were dissolved 
by an Order under section 5(1)(c) of the Offender Management Act 2007. This Order also gave the 
Secretary of State the responsibility for completing the Trust’s final Report and Accounts. The Report 
and Accounts were reviewed and approved by the Probation Trusts’ Legacy Governance Group 
(a sub-Committee of the National Offender Management Service Agency Board) on 19 January 2015 
and NOMS Audit Committee on 9 February 2015. 
 
I received assurances from the former Accountable Officer about the controls which he, the officers and 
Board of the Trust had exercised during their tenure, to ensure compliance with the principles of 
Managing Public Money and in particular in relation to governance, decision-making and financial 
management. I am content that these assurances were sufficiently accurate and robust to allow me to 
place reliance on them in discharging my role as Accountable Officer. 
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I am very grateful to all the former staff and Board Members of the Trust for their continuing hard work 
and commitment during April and May 2014. This ensured that the Trust continued to deliver high quality 
probation services throughout this period, while successfully handing over its responsibilities to the two 
successor organisations with effect from 1 June 2014. I am also grateful to the CRC, NOMS and MoJ 
staff who have undertaken the subsequent work to close down the Trust, complete the transfer of 
residual assets and liabilities, and contribute to this final Report and Accounts. 
 
 
 
 
Mark Taylor 
Accountable Officer 
9 February 2015 
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1. Strategic Report 

This is the final London Probation Trust Annual Report and Accounts prior to the Trust being dissolved 
on 31 October 2014 under The Offender Management Act 2007 (Dissolution of Probation Trusts) Order 
2014. 
 
London Probation Trust’s performance targets were agreed by the National Offender Management 
Service (NOMS) Director of Probation and were fully documented in the Trust’s Contract. 
 
The Trust was in operation during April and May of 2014. The tables below outline the operational 
targets that were set at the beginning of the period and show the Trust’s performance against those 
targets. 
 
Probation Trust Rating System (PTRS) Measures 
 
Offender management Target Performance

80% of orders of the Court and Releases from Custody on 
Licence that are successfully completed  

80% 81.3%

To achieve a rating of level 3 or better for creating appropriate 
records on ViSOR and attendance at both SMB meetings and 
MAPPA meetings for Level 2 and 3 cases 

95% 99.1%

 
Interventions and restrictions Target Performance

Percentage of offenders in employment at termination of their 
order or licence to be at least 51% 

51% 53.8%

Percentage of offenders in settled and suitable accommodation at 
the end of their order or licence to be at least 80% 

80% 85.1%

 
 
Contract Measures 
 
Offender management Target Performance

95% of Pre-Sentence Reports (PSRs) completed within 
timescales set by the court (inc Remands In Custody) 

95% 96.3%

90% of cases in which initiation of breach proceedings took place 
within 10 working days of the relevant unacceptable failure to 
comply 

90% 92.3%

91% of licence recall requests to reach NOMS Post Release 
Section within 24 hrs of the decision of the Offender Manager 

91% 94.0%

At least 90% of OASys final reviews (terminations) are completed 
or updated within the appropriate timescales for all Tier 2 (where 
appropriate), Tier 3, Tier 4 offenders and PPOs 

90% 83.2%

85% of Indeterminate Sentence Prisoner (IPP and Lifer) 
assessment reports completed by target deadline of date set 

85% 79.3%
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Interventions & restrictions Target Performance

The number of offenders on an order or licence who find and 
sustain employment to be at least 396 

396 177

The number of Accredited Offending Behaviour Programme 
completions (excluding Sex Offender programmes and Domestic 
Violence programmes) to be at least 106 

106 34

The number of Integrated Domestic Violence programme 
completions to be at least 91 

91 32

 
Management information Target Performance

DRR Completions 152 42

ATR Completions 110 35

 
 
Specified Activity Requirement Targets 
 
Specified Activity Requirement Completions Targets  Results*

Structured Supervision Requirement  46 59

Structured Supervision for Women 37 33

Integrated Domestic Abuse Programme – Accelerated (Legacy) 11 73

Domestic Abuse Specified Activity Requirement 30 42

Internet Sexual Offending Specified Activity Requirement 33 11

Structured Supervision for Anger Management 30 26

Restorative Justice 15 14

 
Additional performance data will published by NOMS at the address given in the Management 
Commentary section of this report. 
 
 
 
 
 
Mark Taylor 
Accountable Officer 
9 February 2015 
 

5 



London Probation Trust | Period ending 31 October 2014 

2. Sustainability Report 

Introduction 
This is the final Sustainability Report for London Probation Trust, prepared in accordance with  
2011–2012 guidelines laid down by HM Treasury in ‘Public Sector Annual Reports: Sustainability 
Reporting’ published at: www.hm-treasury.gov.uk/frem_sustainability.htm. Sustainability focus is 
on achieving government targets, reducing environmental impact and reducing costs. Priorities include 
reducing carbon emissions, water consumption and waste to landfill. 
 
This report covers 58 buildings. 
 
Shared occupations are not accounted for due to the limitations of extrapolating reliable sustainability 
data from service charges supplied by landlords. In addition, HM Courts & Tribunals Service is obliged to 
supply office space free of charge to probation trusts. As these are modest in size there is little, if any, 
benefit from isolating their sustainability data. We do not consider that the exclusion of these areas has 
a material impact on sustainability reporting for the Trust as a whole. 

Governance, responsibilities and internal assurance 
Overall governance and assurance is managed by the Ministry of Justice Sustainable Development 
Team (MoJ SDT). The probation estate is managed by facilities contractors, acting on behalf of MoJ, 
who manage day to day estate operations including voluntary and mandated sustainability reporting. 
There are some limitations to the accuracy of our financial and non-financial sustainability data and we 
continue to improve the quality of our internal controls, for example through internal audit. 

Greening Government Commitments 
The Greening Government Commitments launched on 1 April 2011 require Departments, including 
probation trusts, to take action to significantly reduce environmental impact by 2014–2015 compared 
to a 2009–10 baseline. These commitments can be found at: http://sd.defra.gov.uk/gov/green-
government/commitments/. 

Climate change adaptation and mitigation 
The MoJ SDT has drafted a Statement for Climate Change Adaptation and set their built and non-built 
estate challenging objectives as follows: 
 To enable the MoJ estate to evaluate risks to its strategy for programme delivery on vulnerable flood 

plains and evaluate its baseline for future adaptation of its targets and actions against climate change 
 To enable the MoJ estate to prioritise its management of high risk sites and where necessary divert 

and recalculate important and fragile resources where they are vital to operational delivery 
 To identify where stakeholders and central partners need to act to facilitate further or additional 

actions to protect against climate change 
 To establish a strategic process by which MoJ can put in place measures necessary to adapt to 

future climate change. 

Carbon Reduction Commitment (CRC) 
CRC is managed by MoJ and associated carbon allowances are accrued by MoJ Corporate Estates. 

Carbon Management Plan (CMP) 
A CMP is a systematic approach to reducing greenhouse gas emissions; integrating technical, financial, 
corporate governance and communications within an overarching strategy. A CMP covers the entire 
probation estate across 35 Trusts and was developed in partnership with the Carbon Trust. MoJ SDT is 
working to consolidate all CMPs, including those in place in the Prison Service and Courts & Tribunals to 
deliver a single cohesive approach with costed projects for each unit to provide an overarching 
framework to tackle climate change. 
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Our vision is to: 
 be a low carbon business in which carbon management and sustainability are embedded within 

decision making, 
 engage stakeholders and demonstrate best practice in meeting corporate sustainability targets. 
 
The plan and statements will be kept under review and open to amendment in order to facilitate a 
continued improvement in meeting statutory obligations for climate change adaptation and reporting. 

Environmental Management System (EMS) 
MoJ SDT has an ongoing EMS implementation programme, and is looking to develop a more 
streamlined EMS that fully meets the requirements while reducing resource impacts on front line 
services. 

Sustainable procurement 
London Probation Trust has access to purchasing agreements for commodities from suppliers that make 
available recycled and low carbon products where appropriate. 
 
Our sustainability performance is shown in the following tables: 
 

Performance summary 

Energy 
Greenhouse gas (GHG) emissions 
  2014–15 2013–14 2012–13 2011–12 2010–11

Total gross emissions for scopes 1 & 2 180.32 1342.7 1399.0 697.6 1558.1
Electricity: green/renewable 459.97 1879.8 2311.9 2717.10 2907.9
Total net emissions for scopes 1 & 2 640.29 3222.5 3710.9 3414.70 4466.00
Travel emissions scope 3 20.7 211.1 266.6 277.2 305.6

Non-
financial 
indicators 
(tCO2e) 

Total gross GHG emissions (all scopes) 660.99 3433.6 3977.6 3691.8 4771.6
Electricity: Grid, CHP & non-renewable 547,706 3,164,844 3,270,017 3,843,063 4,113,039
Electricity: renewable 22,860 1,054,948 1,090,006 1,281,021 1,371,013
Gas 649,903 7,159,847 7,562,278 3,524,340 8,206,680
Other energy sources 0 0 0 0 0

Non-
financial 
(kWh) 

Total energy 1,220,469 11,379,639 11,922,301 8,648,424 13,690,732
Expenditure on energy £96,940 £836,496 £734,371 £715,658 £688,424Financial 

indicators Expenditure on official business travel £12,673 £126,351 £191,936 £364,029 0
 

Waste 
 
   2014–15 2013–14 2012–13 2011–12 2010–11

Hazardous 
waste 

Hazardous waste - - - -

Landfill waste 43.3 148 97 227 407
Reused/recycled waste 48 64 103 169 428

Non-hazardous 
waste 

Energy from waste - - - - -

Non-financial 
indicators 
(tonnes) 

Total waste arising 91.3 212 200 396 835
Hazardous 
waste 

Hazardous waste - - - - -

Landfill waste - - - - -
Reused/recycled waste - - - - -

Non-hazardous 
waste 

Energy from waste - - - - -

Financial 
indicators 

Total waste costs (£) - - - - -

7 



London Probation Trust | Period ending 31 October 2014 

Water 
  2014–15 2013–14 2012–13 2011–12 2010–11
Non-financial indicators Total water consumption 

(cubic metres) 
17,296 89,155 95,305 97,812 120,645

Financial indicators Total water supply costs (£) £19,716 £111,126 £115,514 £88,047 £124,841

Paper 
 2014–15 2013–14 2012–13 2011–12 2010–11
Cost (excluding VAT) £82,809 £420,392 £444,080 £462,815 £508,078
 
 
 
 
Mark Taylor 
Accountable Officer 
9 February 2015 
 

8 



Period ending 31 October 2014 | London Probation Trust 

3. Management Commentary 

Statutory background 
The Probation Trust was established by Order under the Offender Management Act 2007 (OM Act) on 
1 April 2010. The Trust was a corporate body under the OM Act and a Non-Departmental Public Body 
(NDPB) which reported to the National Offender Management Service (NOMS). 
 
The Trust was dissolved on 31 October 2014 by the Offender Management Act 2007 (Dissolution of 
Probation Trusts) Order 2014. 
 
These accounts have been prepared in accordance with the Government Financial Reporting Manual 
(FReM) issued by HM Treasury (HMT) and in accordance with the accounts direction, on page 55, 
issued by the Secretary of State under The Offender Management Act 2007 (Dissolution of Probation 
Trusts) Order 2014. 

Going Concern 
The publication “Transforming Rehabilitation: A strategy for Reform” dated 9 May 2013 included plans to 
contract out certain probation services more widely and to dissolve Probation Trusts. 
 
On 31 May 2014 the Probation Trusts ceased operating, and their activities were taken over from 1 June 
2014 by the National Probation Service (NPS) and 21 new Community Rehabilitation Companies 
(CRCs). 
 
The NPS was created as a new directorate within NOMS, to advise courts on sentencing and to manage 
the highest risk offenders in the community in England and Wales. 
 
The CRCs are currently owned by the Secretary of State for Justice on behalf of the Ministry of Justice 
(MoJ). CRCs provide rehabilitation and offender management services for lower risk offenders in the 
community in England and Wales. 
 
Following a tender process for the CRCs, sale and purchase agreements were signed with successful 
bidders in December 2014, to take ownership of the CRCs with effect from 1 February 2015. Probation 
services will continue to be commissioned by MoJ/NOMS from the CRCs under this arrangement. The 
contracts will influence the operations of the CRCs. 
 
In May 2014 the Secretary of State made a Staff Transfer Scheme and a Property Transfer Scheme 
(the Schemes) under the Offender Management Act 2007. The Schemes came into effect on 1 June 
2014, transferring staff from the Trust to the Secretary of State and to the CRC, and transferring assets 
and liabilities to the Secretary of State. 
 
On 1 June, the NPS began delivering probation services in relation to advising courts on sentencing and 
managing high risk offenders, taking on the staff, operational activity and certain of the rights and 
obligations transferred from the Trust to the Secretary of State for Justice. 
 
Immediately following the transfer from the Trust on 1 June, the Secretary of State transferred certain of 
the rights and obligations to the London Community Rehabilitation Company, which began delivering 
rehabilitation services to lower risk offenders in the community in England and Wales from 1 June. 
 
The Schemes contained provisions for their modification and for re-allocation of those assets and 
liabilities that were allocated to a CRC or the Secretary of State up until 31 December 2014. 
The physical transfer of residual unsettled assets and liabilities under the Property Transfer Scheme took 
place between 1 June and the date of dissolution. A final Property Transfer Scheme, made in October 
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2014, took effect immediately prior to dissolution, transferring any remaining assets and liabilities to the 
Secretary of State. 
 
In the rest of this document, transfers of staff, operational activities, rights and obligations from the Trust 
are referred to as being either to NOMS or to the CRC, to distinguish between those remaining with the 
Secretary of State and those transferred to the CRC. 
 
All 35 Probation Trusts, including London Probation Trust were dissolved on 31 October 2014. 
 
As all of the Trust’s operations ceased during the period and prior to the dissolution of the Trust, I have 
concluded that the Trust was no longer a going concern as at 31 October 2014. These accounts have 
therefore been prepared on a basis other than that of a going concern. Further information can be found 
in Note 1.3 to the Accounts. 

Principal Activities 
In accordance with the provisions of Section 2 of the Offender Management Act 2007 it is the function of 
the Secretary of State to ensure that sufficient provision is made throughout England and Wales for “the 
probation purposes”. The Secretary of State must have regard to the following aims in the exercise of his 
functions as far as they may be exercised for any of the probation purposes: 
 
The principal activities of the Trust between 1 April and 31 October 2014 were: 
 the protection of the public; 
 the reduction of re-offending; 
 the proper punishment of offenders; 
 ensuring offenders’ awareness of the effects of crime on the victims of crimes and the public, and the 

rehabilitation of offenders; 
 to transfer out of all staff and activities, and most assets, liabilities, rights and obligations, on 31 May 

2014; and all residual rights, obligations, assets and liabilities, before dissolution. 

Operational Performance 
An analysis of operational performance is summarised in the Strategic Report on pages 4 and 5. 
Further operational performance data is published by the National Offender Management Service at: 
https://www.gov.uk/government/collections/prison-and-probation-trusts-performance-statistics 

Results for the period 
The Statement of Comprehensive Net Expenditure (SoCNE) for the period is shown on page 26. 
The Statement of Changes in Taxpayers’ Equity is shown on page 29. 

Operating costs 
The net operating cost before tax for the period stands at £3,210k, before the gain on transfer of assets 
and liabilities to NOMS and the CRC. 

Statement of Financial Position and Statement of Cash Flows 
The Statement of Financial Position and Statement of Cash Flows are on pages 27 and 28. 
 
All assets and liabilities, including cash, were transferred to NOMS and the CRC before the Trust was 
dissolved. 

Transfers to the NOMS and London CRC 
The Probation Trust ceased trading on 31 May 2014. The operations and staff of the Trust were divided 
between NOMS and the London CRC, both public sector bodies. 
 
921 FTE employees were transferred to the CRC and 1,268 FTE to NOMS on 1 June 2014. 
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The assets and liabilities of the Trust have been split between NOMS and the CRC on a practical basis 
that reflects their future usage, services provided and the allocation of employees. Refer to Notes 1.3 
and 26 to the accounts for further details. 

Treatment of Pension Liabilities 
Past employees of the Trust, and employees who transferred from the Trust to NOMS or the CRC, are 
covered by the provisions of the Local Government Pension Scheme (LGPS). This is a funded defined 
benefit scheme meaning that retirement benefits are determined independently of the investments of the 
scheme, and employers are obliged to make additional contributions where assets are insufficient to 
meet retirement benefits. 
 
From 1 June 2014 the Trust’s existing pension liabilities and corresponding assets transferred to the 
Greater Manchester Pension Fund (GMPF). 
 
The Secretary of State for Justice has provided a guarantee to the GMPF in respect of the London 
Community Rehabilitation Company’s (CRCs) participation in the GMPF for pension liabilities relating to 
staff that transfer to the CRC. 
 
The responsibility for funding future contributions associated with those original employees who are 
active members of the LGPS transferred with the employee to the new employer, the CRC or NOMS. 
NOMS ensures that the past service liabilities are fully funded on an ongoing basis from the date 
employees transferred to the CRC. 
 
Any increases in employer contributions, other than those made on a discretionary basis by the CRC are 
fully funded by NOMS. 
 
The responsibility for funding the past service liabilities associated with the original employees who are 
deferred or pensioner members of the LGPS transferred to NOMS. 
 
Further information can be found in Note 4 to the Accounts. 

Sickness absence data 
The average level of absence due to staff sickness was 8.7 days across the Trust (2013–14: 9.6 days). 

Events after the reporting period 
In accordance with the requirements of IAS 10, events after the reporting period are considered up to the 
date on which the accounts are authorised for issue. This is interpreted as the date of the Audit 
Certificate of the Comptroller and Auditor General. 
 
As at the date of the Audit Certificate, no reportable events had occurred. 

Sustainable development 
The Trust falls within the scope of reporting under the Government’s Greening Commitment, as such we 
have produced a separate sustainability report showing performance against sustainability targets for 
greenhouse gas emissions, waste minimisation and management and use of the finite resources and 
their related expenditure. Further information can be found on pages 6 to 8. 

Audit 
The Comptroller and Auditor General is appointed by statute to audit the Trust and reports on the truth 
and fairness of the financial statements and the regularity of income and expenditure. The Audit 
Certificate of the Comptroller and Auditor General is attached to the Accounts on page 24. 
 
Total audit fees reported in the Accounts are £141,000 and are made up of: 
 £141,000 payable to the Trust’s external auditor, the National Audit Office (NAO) 
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As Accountable Officer, I have taken all reasonable steps to ensure that: 
 I am aware of any relevant audit information, 
 the Auditor is aware of that information, and 
 there is no relevant audit information of which the Auditor is unaware. 

The Trust Board 
The governance arrangements within the Trust for the period 1 April 2014 to 31 October 2014 are shown 
below on pages 19 to 23. 
 
Details of the remuneration of the former Board are set out in the Remuneration Report on pages 14 
to 17. 
 
Membership of the Board during the period 1 April 2014 to 31 July 2014 is set out in the table below: 
 
Position Name Date appointment ended 
Chief Executive Heather Munro 31st May 2014 
Chair Caroline Corby 31st July 2014 
Deputy Chair Lara Fielden 31st July 2014 
Board Members Geoff Lee 31st July 2014 
 Carol Butler 31st July 2014 
 Dolores Currie 31st July 2014 
 Josephine Channer 31st July 2014 
 Catherine James 31st July 2014 
 David Newman  31st July 2014 
 Alan Plunkett 31st July 2014 
 
Heather Munro was Chief Executive Officer and Accountable Officer between 1 April 2014 and 31 May 
2014. During this time, Nick Smart was seconded to London Probation Trust from Surrey and Sussex 
Probation Trust as the London CRC CEO Designate. The salary costs incurred by the Trust for his 
secondment were £25–30k. During the period from 1 June until 31 July 2014 there was no Chief 
Executive Officer for the Trust but Nick Smart was appointed Accountable Officer in addition to his Chief 
Executive Officer role within the London CRC. In addition, Sonia Crozier, Deputy Director for NPS South 
and South East and former Trust Deputy Chief Executive, was appointed Accountable Officer in relation 
to finalising the Trust’s Annual Report and Accounts for 2013–14. 
 
My thanks and appreciation is extended to all former members of the Trust Board for their hard work and 
effort during this final reporting period. 
 
From 1 August 2014, the Board was reconfigured to support the closure of the Trust. From that date and 
until dissolution on 31 October, a Residuary Board was appointed comprising of staff employed by 
NOMS and the MoJ. 
 
Following dissolution of the Trust on 31 October 2014, the Residuary Board was reconstituted as the 
Probation Trusts’ Legacy Governance Group, a sub committee of the national Offender Management 
Service Agency Board to oversee the discharge of the Secretary of State’s duty, while my appointment 
as Accountable Officer was also extended. 
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Membership of the Residuary Board and Probation Trusts’ Legacy Governance Group is set out in the 
table below: 
 
Position Name 
Chair Colin Allars 
Acting CEO and Accountable Officer Mark Taylor 
Board member Sian Hibbs 
Board member Amy Rees 
Board member* Christine Straw 
Board member** Sally Wordsworth 
Board member*** Ian Baker 

* Until 3 January 2015 
** Until 9 January 2015 
*** From 12 January 2015 
 
 
 
 
Mark Taylor 
Accountable Officer 
9 February 2015 
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4. Remuneration Report 

Appointments 
The former Chair, former Chief Executive, and other former members of the Trust Board were all 
appointed by the Secretary of State in accordance with the Commissioner for Public Appointments 
“Guidance on Appointments to Public Bodies”. The former Chief Executive was appointed by the Board. 
 
From 1 August, the Board was reconfigured to support the closure of the Trust and new members were 
appointed by the Secretary of State, with the agreement of the Commissioner for Public Appointments. 
From then and until dissolution on 31 October, the Board comprised staff remunerated by NOMS and 
MoJ. Their names are given in the Management Commentary. These staff did not receive additional 
remuneration for work in relation to the Trust, and their remuneration and pensions are included within 
the staff costs given in the Annual Report and Accounts of NOMS and MoJ. Colin Allars is a member of 
the NOMS Agency Board, and details of his remuneration and pension are given in the remuneration 
report within the NOMS Annual Report and Accounts. 
 

A) REMUNERATION – AUDITED 
The following sections provide details of the remuneration and pension interests of the most senior 
management (i.e. former board members) of the Trust. 

Salary 
‘Salary’ includes the gross salary; overtime; and any other payment to the extent that it is subject to 
UK taxation. This report is based on accrued payments made by the Trust and thus recorded in these 
accounts. 

Benefits in kind 
The monetary value of benefits in kind covers any benefits provided by the employer and treated by 
HM Revenue and Customs as a taxable emolument. 
 
There were no benefits in kind payments made to former directors and former non-executive directors 
(2013–14: £nil). 

Bonuses 
There were no bonus payments made to former directors and former non-executive directors (2013–14: 
£0–5k). 

Chief Executive Costs 
The terms of employment of the Chief Executive are for the appointed members to determine, with the 
approval of the Secretary of State. Chief Executives are paid Performance Related Pay (PRP) in 
accordance with the contract of employment at a rate of 4%. The payment of PRP is based upon an 
assessment of performance of the Chief Executive against agreed annual objectives, undertaken by the 
Board Chair and approved by the remuneration committee. For the period 2014–2015 the Chief 
Executive accrued no costs. The Chief Executive, opted for voluntary redundancy and received a total 
payment of £nil (2013–14: £247,196).The prior year payment was paid in accordance with the Enhanced 
Voluntary Redundancy scheme initiated by the Ministry of Justice as part of the Transforming 
Rehabilitation programme. The amount paid was calculated on the basis of a number of weeks pay per 
year of continuous service, up to a maximum number of weeks within the Ministry of Justice approved 
scheme. In accordance with the Local Government Pension Scheme, the Chief Executive was entitled to 
early retirement, the capitalised cost of which was paid by the employer in the previous year to the 
London Pension Fund Authority. 
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Single total figure of remuneration 
 

 Salary 
£000 

Bonus payments
£000 

Benefits in kind
(to nearest £100)

Pension benefits 
£000 

Total 
£000 

Former Officials 

Period 
to 31 

October 
2014 

Year to 
31 

March 
2014 

Period 
to 31 

October
2014

Year to 
31 

March 
2014

Period 
to 31 

October
2014

Year to 
31 

March 
2014

Period 
to 31 

October 
2014 

Year to 
31 

March 
2014 

Period 
to 31 

October
2014

Year to 
31 

March 
2014

Heather Munro 
Chief Executive 
Officer  

20–25 
(annualised 

130–135) 

130–135 
 

- 0–5 - - 7 (5) 25–30 130–135

Caroline Corby 
Chair 

5–10 
(annualised 

25–30) 

25–30 - - - - - - 5–10 25–30

Carol Butler 
Board Member 

0–5 5–10 - - - - - - 0–5 5–10

David Newman 
Board Member  

0–5 0–5 - - - - - - 0–5 0–5

Geoff Lee 
Board Member 

0–5 0–5 - - - - - - 0–5 0–5

Dolores Currie 
Board Member 

0–5 0–5 - - - - - - 0–5 0–5

Lara Fielden 
Board Member 

0–5 5–10 - - - - - - 0–5 5–10

Josephine 
Channer 
Board Member 

0–5 0–5 - - - - - - 0–5 0–5

Alan Plunkett 
Board Member 

0–5 - - - - - - - 0–5 -

Catherine James 
Board Member 

0–5 0–5 - - - - - - 0–5 0–5

 
Details outlined above are inclusive of cost incurred up until the cessation of their appointments as 
outlined in the Management Commentary. Also former Board Member, Mark Johnson in post from 
December 2011 to June 2013 was paid outstanding expenses £0–5k during the period to 31 October 
2014. 
 
Heather Munro was Chief Executive Officer Accountable Officer between the 1 April 2014 and the 
31 May 2014. During this time, Nick Smart was seconded to London Probation Trust from Surrey and 
Sussex Probation Trust as the London CRC CEO Designate. The salary costs incurred by the Trust for 
his secondment were £25–30k. From the 1st June there was no Chief Executive Officer for the Trust but 
Nick Smart was appointed the Accountable Officer until 31 July 2014 in addition to his Chief Executive 
Officer role within the London CRC. In addition, Sonia Crozier, Deputy Director for NPS South and South 
East and former Trust Deputy Chief Executive, was appointed Accountable Officer in relation to finalising 
the Trust’s Annual Report and Accounts for 2013–14. 

Compensation for loss of office 
No compensation for loss of office was given in the period (2013–14: £171,155, Heather Munro). 
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Pay Multiples 
Reporting bodies are required to disclose the relationship between the remuneration of the highest-paid 
director in their organisation and the median remuneration of the organisation’s workforce. Total 
remuneration includes salary, non-consolidated performance-related pay and benefits-in-kind. It does not 
include severance payments, employer pension contributions and the cash equivalent transfer value of 
pensions. 
 
The banded remuneration of the highest paid former director in the Trust in the reporting period was 
£130,000–£135,000 (2013–14: £130,000–£135,000). This was 4.2 times the 2013–14 median 
remuneration of the workforce (2013–14: 4.2). The median remuneration of the workforce was not 
recalculated in 2014–15 due to the short period of operation (2013–14: £31,262). 
 
In the period to 31 October 2014, no employee received remuneration in excess of the highest paid 
former director (2013–14: £Nil). Remuneration ranged from £1,516 to £113,328 (2013–14: £1,516 to 
£113,328). 
 
The average number of full time equivalent staff in post during the operational period 1 April to 31 May 
2014 was 2,525 (2013–14: 2,398). After 1 June 2014, only Board members were in post. 
 

B) PENSION BENEFITS – AUDITED 

Cash Equivalent Transfer Value (CETV) 
This is the actuarially assessed capitalised value of the pension scheme benefits accrued by a member 
at a particular point in time. The benefits valued are the member’s accrued benefits and any contingent 
spouse’s pension payable from the scheme. A CETV is a payment made by a pension scheme or 
arrangement to secure pension benefits in another pension scheme or arrangement when the member 
leaves a scheme and chooses to transfer the benefits accrued in their former scheme. The pension 
figures shown relate to the benefits that the individual has accrued as a consequence of their total 
membership of the pension scheme, not just their service in a senior capacity to which disclosure 
applies. The CETV figures include the value of any pension benefit in another scheme or arrangement 
which the individual has transferred to the Civil Service Pension arrangements and for which the Civil 
Service Vote has received a transfer payment commensurate to the additional pension liabilities being 
assumed. They also include any additional pension benefit accrued to the member as a result of their 
purchasing additional years of pension service in the scheme at their own cost. CETVs are calculated 
within the guidelines and framework prescribed by the Institute and Faculty of Actuaries, and do not take 
account of any actual or potential reduction to benefits resulting from Lifetime Allowance Tax which may 
be due when pension benefits are drawn. 

Real increase in CETV 
This reflects the increase in CETV effectively funded by the employer. It takes account of the increase in 
accrued pension due to inflation, contributions paid by the employee (including the value of any benefits 
transferred from another pension scheme or arrangement) and uses current market valuation factors for 
the start and end of the period. 
 

 

Accrued pension at 
pension age as at 

31 October 2014 & 
related lump sum 

Real increase/ 
(decrease) in pension 
and related lump sum 

at pension age

CETV at 
31 May

2014
CETV at 31 
March 2014 

Real 
increase/ 

(decrease) in 
CETV 

Former Officials £000 £000 £000 £000 £000
Heather Munro 65–70 

Plus lump sum 155–160 
0–2.5

Plus lump sum 0–2.5
1,454 1,445 (5)

 
The CETV for the departing Chief Executive has been calculated at the date of their departure from the 
Trust. 
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Until the 31 March 2014, the scheme provides benefits on a ‘final salary’ basis at a normal retirement 
age of 65. Benefits accrue at the rate of 1/60th of pensionable salary for service from 1 April 2008 with 
no automatic lump sum. For pensionable service up to 31 March 2008, benefits accrue at the rate of 
1/80th of pensionable salary for each year of service. In addition, a lump sum equivalent to 3/80ths of 
final pay of every year of total membership is payable on retirement. The scheme permits employees to 
take an increase in their lump sum payment on retirement in exchange for a reduction in their future 
annual pension. 
 
With effect from 1 April 2014, the scheme provides benefits on a career average revalued earnings 
(CARE) basis. Benefits accrue at the rate of 1/49th of pensionable salary for each year of service. 
Members pay contributions of between 5.5% and 7.5% of pensionable earnings. 
 
Employers pay the balance of the cost of providing benefits, after taking into account investment returns. 
 
The opening CETV as at 31 March 2014 has not been recalculated due to the short period of account. 
The closing CETV as at the Chief Executive’s departure has been calculated by our actuary. Due to the 
change in pension accrual rates in the period, the CETV figures are not directly comparable. The real 
increase in CETV is based on an assumption of 2% overall growth of the fund in the period. 
 
 
 
 
Mark Taylor 
Accountable Officer 
9 February 2015 
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5. Statement of Accountable Officer’s 
Responsibilities 

Under the Schedule 1, paragraph 13(1) (b) of the Offender Management Act 2007, the Secretary of 
State has directed the London Probation Trust to prepare for each financial year, a statement of 
accounts detailing the resources acquired, held or disposed of during the year and the use of resources 
by the Trust during the year, in the form and on the basis set out in the Accounts Direction. The 
Accounts Direction for the final accounting period required the statement of accounts to cover the Trust’s 
final accounting period from 1 April to 31 October 2014, in line with The Offender Management Act 2007 
(Dissolution of Probation Trusts) Order 2014. The accounts are prepared on an accrual basis and must 
give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the Trust and of its income and expenditure, changes in 
taxpayers’ equity and cash flows for the period. 
 
In preparing the accounts, the Accountable Officer is required to comply with the requirements of the 
Government Financial Reporting Manual and in particular to: 
 Observe the Accounts Direction issued by the Secretary of State, including the relevant accounting 

and disclosure requirements, and apply suitable accounting policies on a consistent basis; 
 Make judgments and estimates on a reasonable basis; 
 State whether applicable accounting standards as set out in the Government Financial Reporting 

Manual have been followed, and disclose and explain material departures in the financial statements; 
and 

 Prepare the financial statements on a going concern basis, unless it is no longer appropriate to do 
so. 

 
The NOMS Agency Accounting Officer appointed the then Chief Executive as the Trust’s Accountable 
Officer until her retirement at the end of May 2014, followed by the Chief Executive Officer of London 
CRC as Accountable Officer until 31 July 2014 and the NOMS’ Deputy Director of Probation Governance 
and Acting Chief Executive as the Accountable Officer of the Trust from 1 August 2014. The 
responsibilities of the Accountable Officer, including responsibility for the propriety and regularity of the 
public finances for which the Accountable Officer is answerable, for keeping proper records and for 
safeguarding the Trust’s assets, are set out in Managing Public Money, published by HM Treasury. 
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6. Governance Statement 

Introduction 
I was appointed as Accountable Officer by Michael Spurr, the NOMS Agency Accounting Officer, to 
oversee the residual responsibilities of the London Probation Trust for the period leading up to 
dissolution, and to oversee the completion of this final Report and Accounts. In this regard I was 
supported by a Residuary Board, the NOMS Audit and Risk committee, and NOMS and CRC staff. 
 
This statement sets out a summary of the Trust’s governance framework, its risk management strategy 
and the arrangements in place which assured me of an effectively designed control environment. This 
allowed the Trust to deliver probation services efficiently and effectively, and to ensure the successful 
transition of services to the London Community Rehabilitation Company (CRC) and the National 
Probation Service (NPS), a directorate of the National Offender Management Service (NOMS). 

Governance Framework 
The governance framework comprises the behaviours, values, systems and processes, by which the 
Probation Trust was directed and controlled and through which it accounted to the Secretary of State 
and engaged with, and discharged its responsibilities to other elements of the criminal justice system, 
the public, stakeholders and partners. 
 
A framework for the implementation of good governance allowed the Trust to be clear about its approach 
to discharging its responsibilities and to promote this internally, to officers and members and externally to 
partners, stakeholders and residents. The governance framework was designed to manage risk to a 
reasonable level rather than to eliminate all risk of failure to achieve policies, aims and objectives; it can 
therefore only provide reasonable and not absolute assurance of effectiveness. 
 
The governance framework was based on an ongoing process designed to identify and prioritise the 
risks to the achievement of the Trust’s policies, aims and objectives, to evaluate the likelihood of those 
risks being realised and the impact should they be realised, and to manage them efficiently, effectively 
and economically. 
 
From 1 April to 31 July 2014 
The governance of the Trust was overseen by the Trust Board throughout the period of operation from 
1 April 2014 until 31 May 2014. Following the cessation of the Trust’s operations on the expiry of the 
Trust’s contract to deliver probation services at the end of 31 May 2014, this governance structure 
remained in place until 31 July 2014 in order to ensure a safe and well-managed transfer of the Trust’s 
service delivery and employer responsibilities to NOMS and the CRC. 
 
Throughout this period, the Trust Board had ten appointed members, including the Chair, Caroline 
Corby, and nine advisors. The then Chief Executive, Heather Munro, was also a member of the Board 
until her retirement on 31 May 2014. Nick Smart was Accountable Officer following Heather Munro’s 
retirement until 31 July 2014. The Board met every month to discuss and oversee all matters of strategic 
and operational significance as well as ensuring that the Trust’s plans and objectives were aligned to 
Ministerial priorities and that the affairs of the Trust were conducted in accordance with the Code of 
Practice and Conduct for Probation Trust Chairs and Members, the Probation Trust Governance 
Handbook, and Managing Public Money. 
 
The Board was supported by the following committees: 
 Audit Committee 
 Corporate Business Committee 
 Remuneration Committee 
 Transforming Rehabilitation Committee 
 Service Delivery Committee 
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 Serious Further Offences Committee 
 Joint Negotiation and Consultative Committee 
 Probation and Courts Forum. 
 
From 1 August to 31 October 2014 
The Secretary of State for Justice appointed a Residuary Board, comprised of senior officials from 
NOMS and Ministry of Justice, with effect from 1 August 2014. I was appointed as Acting Chief 
Executive and Accountable Officer. The Residuary Board was charged with overseeing the residual 
responsibilities of the Trust during the non-operational period from 1 August 2014 until the Trust’s 
dissolution on 31 October 2014. In this task, the Residuary Board and I were supported by the NOMS 
Audit and Risk Committee. 
 
Post-dissolution 
The Order dissolving the Trust gave the Secretary of State the duty to ensure completion of this final 
Report and Accounts in accordance with the requirements of Managing Public Money. Following 
dissolution of the Trust, the former Residuary Board was reconstituted as the Probation Trusts’ Legacy 
Governance Group, a sub-committee of the National Offender Management Service Agency Board, to 
oversee the discharge of the Secretary of State’s duty. My appointment as Accountable Officer was also 
extended. As Accountable Officer, I was supported by the NOMS Audit and Risk Committee. 

Board Effectiveness 
On the basis of the assurances provided by my predecessor discussed below, I am satisfied that the 
Trust Board was compliant with the requirements of the Code of Practice and Conduct for Probation 
Trust Chairs and Members, the Probation Trust Governance Handbook, and Managing Public Money. 
 
At its initial meeting, the Residuary Board agreed rules of procedure which drew on the model standing 
orders set out in the Probation Trust Governance Handbook and were commensurate with the Board’s 
remit of overseeing the residual responsibilities of the Trust during the non-operational period. 
 
Oversight and Assurance Arrangements 
The Trust Board continued to exercise governance oversight until 31 July 2014. The Board’s remit was 
to give direction to, and ensure achievement of the objectives of the Trust operations and major change 
programmes; ensuring competent and prudent management, sound planning and proper procedures for 
the maintenance of adequate accounting and other records and systems of internal control, and 
compliance with legislative and corporate governance requirements. The Board met on four occasions 
from 1 April to 31 July 2014. 
 
Key areas of focus and highlights from Trust Board meetings 
During the period from 1 April to 31 July 2014, established London Probation Trust governance 
arrangements remained in place in order to maintain a sound system of internal control and keeping 
operational performance high whilst implementing the Transforming Rehabilitation Programme. 
 
Internal Control of London Probation Trust during this period was informed by the work of the: 
 London Probation Trust Board 
 London Probation Trust Committees 
 MoJ Internal Audit 
 Executive Managers within London Probation Trust 
 An Internal Audit Report on the effectiveness of the Trust’s Control Framework 
 
Key business risks within London Probation Trust were effectively identified and managed during the 
period April and May 2014. The London Probation Trust Exit Management Business Risk Management 
Framework was used to describe the specific risk management activities to be undertaken to identify, 
monitor and report business risks during the exit management phase of London Probation Trust. A risk 
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mapping exercise took place in June 2014 to transfer risks to London CRC and London NPS, which was 
reported to the 14 July 2014 Board meeting 
 
The London Probation Trust Audit Committee meetings during this period included: 
 Discussion of business risks 
 Discussion of the draft 2013–14 London Probation Trust Annual Report and Accounts and 

recommending approval by the London Probation Trust Board 
 Receiving internal audit reports from MoJ Internal Audit and updates from London Probation Trust 

managers on the implementation of the recommendations 
 Reviewing the transfer arrangements for outstanding internal audit recommendations; the external 

auditor’s completion report recommendations’ and outstanding recommendations from the Her 
Majesty’s Inspectorate of Probation report. 

 
Accountable Officer Handover 
In preparation for the transition of the governance arrangements to the Residuary Board, Nick Smart, 
my predecessor as Accountable Officer wrote to me prior to the end of his term of office to provide 
assurance over the activities of the Trust in the period until 31 July 2014. Nick Smart confirmed that the 
Trust’s governance and accountabilities remained in place throughout the period, providing evidence that 
the Trust’s overarching governance, risk management and control arrangements remained adequate 
during the period. The evidence included an audit by MoJ Internal Audit of the Trust’s control framework 
in April and May 2014, which drew on their assurances from 2013–14 and gave an overall opinion that 
the framework of governance, risk management and control was adequate and gave an overall opinion 
of “Substantial assurance”. 
 
Nick Smart drew my attention to the following significant issues: 
 The Trust identified a contingent liability in May 2014 arising from a claim from a supplier of IT 

licences for finance and human resources software. The claim was disputed, with the Trust’s position 
being supported by the Crown Commercial Services. 

 There was one employment tribunal outstanding, although with reasonable prospects of defending 
the claim. 

 
In addition, the Handover and supporting documentation letter referred to the Trust’s management of risk 
during this period including the active monitoring of risks relating to operational performance, the 
Transforming Rehabilitation reforms and other significant concerns. The risks and concerns included: 
 maintenance of appropriate levels of staffing, staff sickness, the loss of senior leadership and the 

difficulties in recruiting staff; 
 ICT plans during the transition to the NPS and CRC; and, 
 data availability, requests for data and possible data loss during the transition (although no data 

losses were identified in the period 1 April to 31 July). 
 
These risks and concerns were addressed through the Trust’s Exit Management Planning and milestone 
reporting to NOMS. 
 
From the 1 August 2014 the Residuary Board continued the governance process through oversight of 
dissolution of the Trust by: 
 Reviewing the 2013–14 Annual Report and Accounts and the handover letter from my predecessor 

as Accountable Officer; 
 Receiving regular financial and other reports on progress of the dissolution of the Trust, reviewing 

these against progress of the Transforming Rehabilitation Programme and its relevant workstreams; 
and 

 Reviewing the details of key liabilities transferring to NOMS and CRCs to ensure appropriate transfer 
management. 
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Risk Management 
The Residuary Board was satisfied that the Trust continued to maintain its pre-existing risk management 
protocols and procedures, and therefore it had satisfactory processes in place for the management of 
the operational delivery risk during April and May 2014. The Residuary Board was also satisfied that 
these risks transferred successfully to the CRC and NPS on 1 June 2014. 
 
The Residuary Board recognised there were some risks associated with the transfer process, particularly 
concerning continuing operational delivery and ensuring transfer was completed in a controlled way. 
 
NOMS (including NPS) and the TR Programme worked closely with the Trust and then with the CRC to 
manage the risks to business delivery in relation to probation services. An Implementation and Systems 
Assurance Board chaired by the NOMS CEO was established as a key component of the TR 
Programme governance to enable NOMS to oversee and manage the operational and delivery risks, 
ensuring a smooth transition to the new structure. Some members of the Residuary Board, including the 
Chair, were also members of the Implementation and Systems Assurance Board. 
 
Notwithstanding the issues which Nick Smart drew to my attention, there was no significant diminution of 
the Trust’s core service provision during the period of operation until 31 May 2014. Performance 
measures agreed with the National Offender Management Service were continued from the previous 
year and continued to be monitored, showing acceptable performance broadly consistent with prior 
levels. An analysis of operational performance is summarised in the Strategic Report. 
 
Non-current assets were transferred from the Trust to NOMS or the CRC at 1 June 2014 in accordance 
with the Property Transfer Scheme. Assets remained in their pre-existing physical location following 
transfer. 
 
Cash held at the point of dissolution was returned to NOMS. Cash held at local delivery units and 
approved premises were returned to the Trust and the balances allocated to NOMS or the CRC as 
required. Cash relating to the delivery of European Social Fund projects was transferred to the body 
responsible for future delivery of the project. 
 
The archiving of the Trust’s structured and unstructured data is expected to continue until spring 2015, 
overseen by the TR Programme’s Data Archiving Workstream, with support from NOMS and the CRC. 
The Workstream has properly considered data loss issues following the removal and subsequent 
movement of data. 

Board Attendance 
In the period 1 April – 31 July 2014 
 
Meeting Name Role Board Audit Corp Bus Ext Rel H&S JNCC Rem Com PCF Serv Del TRC SFO
Total number of meetings for 
2014/15 

4 1 1 0 0 1 2 1 1 2 1

Attendance Note     

Caroline Corby Chair  4 of 4 1 of 1 2 of 2  1 of 2

Heather Munro Chief Executive 2 of 2  0 of 1 1 of 1 2 of 2 0 of 1 0 of 1 2 of 2

Alan Plunkett Board Member  2 of 2  0 of 1   

Carol Butler Board Member 3 of 4 1 of 1  0 of 1 1 of 1 1 of 2 1 of 1

David Newman Board Member 2 of 2  1of 1   1 of 1 2 of 2 1 of 1

Dolores Currie Board Member 3 of 4 0 of 1 1 of 1 1 of 1 2 of 2  

Josephine 
Channer 

Board Member 3 of 4 0 of 1 1 of 1 0 of 1   

Geoff Lee Board Member 4 of 4 1 of 1   1 of 1 2 of 2

Lara Fielden Board Member 3 of 4 0 of 1 2 of 2  1 of 1 1 of 2 1 of 1

Catherine James Board Member 4 of 4 1 of 1 1 of 1  2 of 2 1 of 2
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The Board above resigned their posts on 31 July 2014. 
 
The London Probation Trust Board’s Governance responsibility transferred to the Probation Trusts’ 
Residuary Board on 31 July 2014. 
 
From 1 August 2014 

Name Role 
Residuary Board to 

31 October 2014 

Legacy Governance 
Group from 

1 November 2014 
Colin Allars Director of Probation (Chair) 4 of 4 2 of 3 
Mark Taylor Deputy Director of Probation, Acting CEO 

and Accountable Officer 
4 of 4 3 of 3 

Sian Hibbs Deputy Director NOMS in Wales 1 of 4 3 of 3 
Amy Rees MoJ Deputy Director Delivery and 

Transforming Rehabilitation 
3 of 4 3 of 3 

Christine Straw* Deputy Director NOMS HR 4 of 4 1 of 3 
Sally Wordsworth** Finance Business Partner Probation 4 of 4 2 of 2 
Ian Baker*** Finance Business Partner Probation N/A 1 of 1 

In attendance:    
Fiona Moore NOMS Head of CRC Governance 

(Board Secretary) 
4 of 4 3 of 3 

* Until 3 January 2015 
** Until 9 January 2015 
*** From 12 January 2015 
 
 
 
 
Mark Taylor 
Accountable Officer 
9 February 2015 
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7. The Certificate and Report of the Comptroller and 
Auditor General to the Houses of Parliament 

I certify that I have audited the financial statements of the London Probation Trust for the period ended 
31 October 2014 under the Offender Management Act 2007. The financial statements comprise: the 
Statements of Comprehensive Net Expenditure, Financial Position, Cash Flows, Changes in Taxpayers’ 
Equity; and the related notes. These financial statements have been prepared under the accounting 
policies set out within them. I have also audited the information in the Remuneration Report that is 
described in that report as having been audited. 
 
Respective responsibilities of the Board, Accountable Officer and auditor 
As explained more fully in the Statement of Accountable Officer’s Responsibilities, the Board and the 
Accountable Officer are responsible for the preparation of the financial statements and for being satisfied 
that they give a true and fair view. My responsibility is to audit, certify and report on the financial 
statements in accordance with the Offender Management Act 2007. I conducted my audit in accordance 
with International Standards on Auditing (UK and Ireland). Those standards require me and my staff to 
comply with the Auditing Practices Board’s Ethical Standards for Auditors. 
 
Scope of the audit of the financial statements 
An audit involves obtaining evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements 
sufficient to give reasonable assurance that the financial statements are free from material misstatement, 
whether caused by fraud or error. This includes an assessment of: whether the accounting policies are 
appropriate to the Trust’s circumstances and have been consistently applied and adequately disclosed; 
the reasonableness of significant accounting estimates made by the Trust; and the overall presentation 
of the financial statements. In addition I read all the financial and non-financial information in the Report 
to identify material inconsistencies with the audited financial statements and to identify any information 
that is apparently materially incorrect based on, or materially inconsistent with, the knowledge acquired 
by me in the course of performing the audit. If I become aware of any apparent material misstatements 
or inconsistencies I consider the implications for my certificate. 
 
I am required to obtain evidence sufficient to give reasonable assurance that the expenditure and 
income recorded in the financial statements have been applied to the purposes intended by Parliament 
and the financial transactions recorded in the financial statements conform to the authorities which 
govern them. 
 
Opinion on regularity 
In my opinion, in all material respects the expenditure and income recorded in the financial statements 
have been applied to the purposes intended by Parliament and the financial transactions recorded in the 
financial statements conform to the authorities which govern them. 
 
Opinion on financial statements 
In my opinion: 
 the financial statements give a true and fair view of the state of London Probation Trust’s affairs as at 

31 October 2014 and of the net income for the period then ended; and 
 the financial statements have been properly prepared in accordance with the Offender Management 

Act 2007 and Secretary of State directions issued thereunder. 
 
Emphasis of matter – going concern 
Without qualifying my opinion, I draw attention to the disclosures in Note 1.3 to the financial statements 
in respect of going concern. The Trust was dissolved on 31 October 2014 under the Offender 
Management Act 2007 (Dissolution of Probation Trusts) Order 2014, with all assets, liabilities and 
functions having transferred to the Secretary of State for Justice on 1 June 2014. In accordance with the 
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Government Financial Reporting Manual, the financial statements have been prepared on a basis other 
than that of a going concern. 
 
Opinion on other matters 
In my opinion: 
 the part of the Remuneration Report to be audited has been properly prepared in accordance with 

Secretary of State directions made under the Offender Management Act 2007; and 
 the information given in the Strategic Report and Management Commentary for the period for which 

the financial statements are prepared is consistent with the financial statements. 
 
Matters on which I report by exception 
I have nothing to report in respect of the following matters which I report to you if, in my opinion: 
 adequate accounting records have not been kept or returns adequate for my audit have not been 

received from branches not visited by my staff; or 
 the financial statements and the part of the Remuneration Report to be audited are not in agreement 

with the accounting records and returns; or 
 I have not received all of the information and explanations I require for my audit; or 
 the Governance Statement does not reflect compliance with HM Treasury’s guidance. 
 
Report 
I have no observations to make on these financial statements. 
 
 
 
 
 
Sir Amyas C E Morse   23 February 2015 
Comptroller and Auditor General 
 
National Audit Office 
157–197 Buckingham Palace Road 
Victoria 
London 
SW1W 9SP 
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8. Accounts 

Statement of Comprehensive Net Expenditure 

For the period ending 31 October 2014 
 

  

Period to 
31 October 

2014 
Year to

31 March 2014
 Notes £000 £000
Expenditure   
Staff costs 3(a) 18,125 107,166
Other expenditure 6 4,028 25,638
Total Expenditure  22,153 132,804
   
Income 7 (20,530) (128,869)
   
Net operating costs  1,623 3,935
   
Net interest cost on pension scheme 4(c) 1,603 10,089
   
Net operating costs before taxation  3,226 14,024
   
Taxation 5 (16) (59)
   
Net operating costs after taxation  3,210 13,965
   
Non-operating activities   
   
Net (gain)/loss on absorption* 26 (211,295) -
   
Net expenditure/(income)  (208,085) 13,965
 

Other Comprehensive Expenditure 
 

  

Period to 
31 October 

2014 
Year to

31 March 2014
 Notes £000 £000
Items that will not be reclassified to net operating costs:   
   
Net (gain)/loss on revaluation of property, plant and equipment 8 - 1
   
Net (gain)/loss on revaluation of intangibles 9 - (2)
   
Remeasurement of post employment benefits 4(c) (5,509) (18,685)
   
Total comprehensive expenditure/(income) (213,594) (4,721)
 
* The net (gain)/loss on absorption reflect the carrying value of net assets/liabilities transferred from the 

Trust to NOMS and the CRC. The Trust ceased operations on 31 May 2014, when activities, staff, 
most assets and liabilities transferred to NOMS and the CRC. 

 
The notes on pages 30 to 54 form part of these accounts. 
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Statement of Financial Position 

As at 31 October 2014 
 

  
As at 31 

October 2014 
As at 

31 March 2014
 Notes £000 £000
Non-current assets   
Property, plant and equipment 8 - 872
Intangible assets 9 - 521
Total non-current assets  - 1,393
   
Current assets   
Trade and other receivables 11(a) - 6,411
Cash and cash equivalents 12 1 8,494
Total current assets  1 14,905
   
Total assets  1 16,298
   
Current liabilities   
Trade and other payables 13(a) - (6,935)
Provisions 14 - -
Taxation payables 13(a) - (2,480)
Total current liabilities  - (9,415)
   
Non-current assets plus/less net current assets/(liabilities)  1 6,883
   
Non-current liabilities   
Pension liability 4(c) - (220,476)
Total non-current liabilities  - (220,476)
   
Assets less liabilities  1 (213,593)
   
Taxpayers’ equity   
General fund 21 1 (213,736)
Revaluation reserve – property, plant and equipment 22(a) - 94
Revaluation reserve – intangible assets 22(b) - 49
  1 (213,593)
 
The Trust ceased operations on 31 May 2014, when most assets and liabilities transferred to NOMS and 
the CRC. Residual balances transferred to NOMS prior to dissolution of the Trust. See Note 26. 
 
The financial statements on pages 26 to 29 were approved and signed by 
 
 
Mark Taylor 
Accountable Officer 
9 February 2015 
 
 
The notes on pages 30 to 54 form part of these accounts. 
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Statement of Cash Flows 

For the period ending 31 October 2014 
 

  
Period to 31 

October 2014 
Year to 

31 March 2014
 Notes £000 £000
Cash flows from operating activities   
Net operating costs SoCNE (3,210) (13,965)
Adjustments for non-cash transactions 6 120 714
Adjustment for pension cost  1,762 12,793
(Increase)/decrease in receivables 11(a) 6,411 3,391
Adjustment for receivables transferred to NOMS and CRC 26 (558) -
Increase/(decrease) in payables 13(a) (9,415) (5,653)
Adjustment for payables transferred to NOMS and CRC 26 1,534 -
Utilisation of provisions 14 - -
Net cash outflow from operating activities  (3,356) (2,720)
   
Cash flows from investing activities   
Purchase of property, plant and equipment 8 - (557)
Purchase of intangibles 9 - (25)
Proceeds on disposal of property, plant and equipment 8 - -
Net cash outflow from investing activities  - (582)
   
Cash flows from financing activities   
Net financing received in year 21 - -
Net financing  - -
   
Transfer of cash to NOMS and CRC 26 (5,137) -
   
Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents in the period (8,493) (3,302)
   
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the period 12 8,494 11,796
Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the period 12 1 8,494
Increase/(decrease) in cash  (8,493) (3,302)
 
 
The notes on pages 30 to 54 form part of these accounts. 
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Statement of Changes in Taxpayers’ Equity 

For the period ending 31 October 2014 
 

  
General 

Fund
Revaluation 

Reserve Total
 Notes £000 £000 £000
   
Balances as at 1 April 2013  (218,456) 142 (218,314)
   
Changes in taxpayers’ equity for 2013–14    
   
Net expenditure SoCNE (13,965) - (13,965)
   
Net gain/(loss) on revaluation of property, plant and 
equipment 

22(a) - (1) (1)

Transferred to General Fund from property, plant and 
equipment revaluation reserve 

22(a) - - -

   
Net gain/(loss) on revaluation of intangibles 22(b) - 2 2
Transferred to General Fund from tangibles revaluation 
reserve 

22(b) - - -

   
Transferred from revaluation reserve 21 - - -
Remeasurement of post employment benefits 4(c) 18,685 - 18,685
Net NOMS financing received in year 21 - - -
   
Balance as at 31 March 2014  (213,736) 143 (213,593)
   
Changes in taxpayers’ equity for the period to 31 October 2014  
   
Net expenditure SoCNE 208,085 - 208,085
   
Net gain/(loss) on revaluation of property, plant and 
equipment 

22(a) - - -

Transferred to General Fund from property, plant and 
equipment revaluation reserve 

22(a) - (94) (94)

   
Net gain/(loss) on revaluation of intangibles 22(b) - - -
Transferred to General Fund from intangibles revaluation 
reserve 

22(b) - (49) (49)

   
Transferred from revaluation reserve – property, plant 
and equipment 

21 94 - 94

Transferred from revaluation reserve – intangibles 21 49 - 49
   
Remeasurement of post employment benefits 4(c) 5,509 - 5,509
Net NOMS financing received in period 21 - - -
   
Balance as at 31 October 2014  1 - 1
 
 
The notes on pages 30 to 54 form part of these accounts. 
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Notes to the accounts 

1. Statement of accounting 
policies 

1.1 Basis of preparation 
These financial statements are for the period from 
1 April 2014 to 31 October 2014. The comparative 
figures are for the year from 1 April 2013 to 
31 March 2014. 
 
The financial statements have been prepared in 
accordance with the 2014–15 Government 
Financial Reporting Manual (FReM) issued by 
HM Treasury. The accounting policies contained in 
the FReM follow International Financial Reporting 
Standards (IFRS) as at the reporting date to the 
extent that it is meaningful and appropriate to the 
public sector. 
 
Where the FReM permits a choice of accounting 
policy, the policy which has been judged to be the 
most appropriate to the particular circumstances of 
the Probation Trust for the purpose of giving a true 
and fair view has been selected. The Probation 
Trust’s accounting policies have been applied 
consistently in dealing with items considered 
material in relation to the accounts. 
 
The Trust has not adopted any Standards or 
Interpretations in advance of the required 
implementation dates. It is not expected that 
adoption of Standards or Interpretations which 
have been issued by the International Accounting 
Standards Board but have not been adopted will 
have a material impact on the financial statements. 
 
The functional and presentation currency of the 
Trust is the British pound sterling (£). 

1.2 Accounting convention 
These accounts have been prepared on an 
accruals basis under the historical cost convention 
and modified to account for the revaluation of 
non-current assets. 

1.3 Going concern 
The publication “Transforming Rehabilitation: A 
strategy for Reform” dated 9 May 2013 included 
plans to contract out certain probation services 
more widely and to dissolve Probation Trusts. 
 

On 31 May 2014 the Probation Trusts ceased 
operating, and their activities were taken over from 
1 June 2014 by the National Probation Service 
(NPS) and 21 new Community Rehabilitation 
Companies (CRCs). 
 
The NPS was created as a new directorate within 
NOMS, to advise courts on sentencing and to 
manage the highest risk offenders in the 
community in England and Wales. 
 
The CRCs are currently owned by the Secretary 
of State for Justice. CRCs provide rehabilitation 
and offender management services for lower risk 
offenders in the community in England and Wales. 
 
Following a tender process for the CRCs, sale and 
purchase agreements were signed with the 
successful bidders in December 2014, to take 
ownership of the CRCs from 1 February 2015. 
Probation services will continue to be 
commissioned by MoJ/NOMS from the CRCs 
under this arrangement. The contracts will 
influence the operations of the CRCs. MoJ/NOMS 
has committed to fund and ensure all current 
probation services will continue under the new 
structure, using the same assets and resources, 
for the foreseeable future. 
 
In May 2014 the Secretary of State made a Staff 
Transfer Scheme and a Property Transfer Scheme 
(the Schemes) under the Offender Management 
Act 2007. The Schemes came into effect on 
1 June 2014, transferring staff from the Trust to 
the Secretary of State and the CRC and assets 
and liabilities to the Secretary of State. 
 
On 1 June, the NPS began delivering probation 
services in relation to advising courts on 
sentencing and managing high risk offenders, 
taking on certain of the staff and rights and 
obligations transferred from the Trust to the 
Secretary of State for Justice. 
 
Immediately following the transfer from the Trust 
on 1 June, the Secretary of State transferred 
certain of the rights and obligations to the London 
Community Rehabilitation Company, which began 
delivering rehabilitation services to lower risk 
offenders in the community from 1 June. 
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The Schemes contained provisions for their 
modification and for re-allocation of those assets 
and liabilities that were allocated to a CRC or the 
Secretary of State up until 31 December 2014. 
The physical transfer of residual unsettled assets 
and liabilities under the Scheme took place 
between 1 June and the date of dissolution. 
 
In the rest of this document, transfers of staff, 
operational activities, rights and obligations from 
the Trust are referred to as being either to NOMS 
or to the CRC, to distinguish between those 
remaining with the Secretary of State and those 
transferred to the CRC. 
 
See Note 26 for details of transferred balances. 
 
All 35 Probation Trusts, including London 
Probation Trust were dissolved on 31 October 
2014. 
 
As all of the Trust’s operations were transferred 
out of the Trust during the period and prior to the 
dissolution of the Trust, the Trust was no longer a 
going concern as at 31 October 2014, and these 
accounts have therefore been prepared on a basis 
other than that of a going concern. 
 
Applying a basis other than that of a going concern 
has no material impact on the Trust’s accounts. 
All assets and liabilities were transferred out of the 
Trust at carrying value under absorption 
accounting before the Trust was dissolved. 

1.4 Property, plant and equipment 
Property, plant and equipment were transferred as 
at 1 June 2014 to NOMS or the CRC on the basis 
of majority use of the asset. 
 
All land and building assets used by the Probation 
Trust were managed and owned centrally by 
NOMS and are recorded on their Statement of 
Financial Position. Recharges from NOMS for IT 
and Estates costs were not made in the period to 
31 October 2014. 
 
Revaluation 
The revaluation reserve reflects the unrealised 
element of the cumulative balance of revaluation 
and indexation adjustments in non-current assets. 
Revaluation reserves created while the Trust 
operated have been transferred to the General 
Fund as at 31 May 2014. 

1.5 Depreciation 
Non-current assets were depreciated at rates 
calculated to write them down to estimated 
residual value on a straight-line basis over their 
estimated useful lives. Assets in the course of 
construction were depreciated from the point at 
which the asset was brought into use. 
 
Asset lives prior to the transfer to NOMS and the 
CRC are currently in the following ranges: 
 
Information technology 5 years depending on 

individual asset type 
Plant & equipment 3 to 15 years depending on 

individual asset type 
Vehicles 7 years depending on 

individual asset type 
Furniture, fixtures & 
fittings 

5 years depending on 
individual asset type 

1.6 Impairment 
Owing to the low value of assets transferred and 
given the proximity to the 2013–14 year end, an 
additional impairment review was not considered 
necessary. 

1.7 Intangible non-current assets 
Intangible non-current assets have been allocated 
to the NOMS or the CRC on the basis of majority 
use of the asset. The Trust recognised intangible 
non-current assets only if it was probable that 
future service potential would flow to the Trust and 
the cost of the asset could be measured reliably. 
Intangibles comprised internally developed 
software for internal use, software developed by 
third parties and licenses for purchased software. 
Intangible assets were amortised using the 
straight-line method over their anticipated useful 
lives. The useful lives of the software range from 
3 to 10 years. Licences were amortised over the 
length of the licence. 
 
As there was no active market for these intangible 
assets, their fair value was assessed at the 
re-valued amount less any accumulated 
amortisation. 

1.8 Inventories 
Stocks of stationery and other consumable stores 
are not considered material and were written off in 
the SoCNE as they were purchased. 
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1.9 Operating income 
Income is accounted for applying the accruals 
convention and is recognised in the period in 
which services are provided. 
 
Operating income is income that relates directly to 
the operating activities of the Probation Trust. This 
comprises income under the Trust’s contract with 
NOMS for the provision of Probation Services, rent 
receivables, income from EU sources, income 
from other Trusts, from within the MoJ Group, 
from other Government Departments and 
miscellaneous income. Fees and charges for 
services are recovered on a full cost basis in 
accordance with the Treasury’s Fees and 
Charges guide. 

1.10 Other Expenditure 
All non-staff expenditure is shown as Other 
Expenditure. 
 
On consolidation into NOMS Agency Accounts, 
all expenditure and income is classified as 
programme, except the audit fee, which is 
administration expenditure. 

1.11 Pensions 
Past employees, and employees who transferred 
from the Trust to NOMS or the CRC, are covered 
by the provisions of the Local Government 
Pension Scheme (LGPS). This is a funded defined 
benefit scheme. Retirement benefits are 
determined independently of the investments of 
the scheme and employers are obliged to make 
additional contributions where assets are 
insufficient to meet retirement benefits. 
 
The responsibility for funding future contributions 
associated with those original employees who are 
active members of the LGPS transferred with the 
employee to their new employer. NOMS ensures 
that the past service liabilities are fully funded on 
an ongoing basis on the date employees 
transferred. Any increase to employer contribution 
levels, other than those caused by discretionary 
actions of the CRC will be funded by NOMS. 
 
The pension fund is subject to an independent 
triennial actuarial valuation to determine each 
employer’s contribution rate (disclosure of 
Stakeholder Pensions Schemes is not included in 
these accounts). The last triennial review was 
conducted 31 March 2013. 
 

The last roll-forward valuation was performed at 
31 March 2014 by the Trust’s Actuary. 
 
From 1 June 2014 the Trust’s existing pension 
liabilities and corresponding assets transferred to 
the Greater Manchester Pension Fund (GMPF). 
 
The Secretary of State for Justice has provided a 
guarantee to the GMPF in respect of the CRCs’ 
participation in the GMPF for pension liabilities 
that transfer to the CRCs. 
 
The responsibility for funding the past service 
liabilities associated with the original employees 
who are deferred or pensioner members of the 
LGPS transferred to NOMS. 
 
Given the proximity to the most recent roll-forward 
valuation an assumption has been made that the 
make up of current and former employees would 
not have changed significantly enough to result in 
a material change in demographic assumptions, 
nor that there has been any significant change in 
bond prices or interest rates over the period that 
would result in a material gain or loss from 
financial assumptions. 
 
The liability recognised in the SoFP as at 31 
March 2014 in respect of defined benefit pension 
plans at the reporting date was the present value 
of the defined benefit obligation less the fair value 
of plan assets. The present value of the defined 
benefit obligation was determined by discounting 
the estimated future cash outflows using discount 
rates as advised by the scheme actuary. 
 
Remeasurement gains and losses are recognised 
within Other Comprehensive Expenditure in the 
period in which they arise. 
 
In the final reporting period, as well as recognising 
contributions, the Trust recognised estimates of 
material movements: current service costs, 
interest costs, benefits paid and the actual return 
on plan assets from 1 April to 31 May 2014. 
 
Current service costs and interest costs were 
estimated using forecasts from the actuarial 
reports as at 31 March 2014. 
 
Benefits paid for the two months to 31 May 2014 
were estimated based on benefits paid in  
2013–14. 
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The actual return on plan assets for the two 
months to 31 May 2014 was estimated based on 
the percentage actual return on assets in the 
LGPS, on the assumption that most pension funds 
will have a materially similar risk profile for their 
investments. The percentage was applied to the 
Trust’s opening plan assets, and the resulting 
return was adjusted to deduct the net interest on 
plan assets. 
 
In preparing the Trust accounts an assumption 
was made that there would have been no 
significant change to the financial assumptions 
made in the 31 March 2014 actuarial report. 
To support this assumption management 
undertook a sensitivity analysis using data 
provided in the 31 March 2014 actuarial valuation. 
The results of the sensitivity analysis were broadly 
analogous with market movements over the period 
and suggest that had an actuarial valuation been 
performed at 31 May 2014 the likely impact would 
have been an increase in the liability in the order 
of 2 per cent. Management assessed that this 
estimated impact is not significant to the £216.7m 
liability, and have therefore not commissioned an 
actuarial valuation as at 31 May 2014. 
 
Pension assets and liabilities were transferred 
from the Trust to NOMS as at 1 June 2014. 
 
An actuarial valuation of the scheme will be 
provided in the NOMS 2014–15 Report and 
Accounts. 

1.12 Leases 
The Trust held no finance leases in either 
reporting period. 
 
Under operating leases, the lessor effectively 
retains substantially all of the risks and rewards of 
ownership. The rentals are charged to the SoCNE 
on a straight-line basis over the term of the lease. 
All leases which were current at 1 June 2014 were 
transferred to the NOMS or the CRC on the basis 
of majority use. 

1.13 Provisions 
Provisions represent liabilities of uncertain timing 
or amount. Provisions are recognised when the 
Probation Trust has a present legal or constructive 
obligation, as a result of past events, for which it is 
probable that an outflow of economic benefits will 
be required to settle the obligation. Where the 
effect of the time value of money is significant, the 

estimated risk-adjusted cash flows are discounted 
using the real rate set by HM Treasury. 
 
Unsettled provisions and contingent liabilities were 
transferred to NOMS or the CRC prior to 
dissolution of the Trust. 

1.14 Value Added Tax 
For the Probation Trust most of the activities are 
within the scope of VAT and, in general, output tax 
is charged and input tax on purchases is 
recoverable. Capitalised purchase cost of 
non-current assets are stated net of recoverable 
VAT. Where output tax is charged or input VAT is 
recoverable, the amounts are stated net of VAT. 
 
Prior to the dissolution of the Trust, final 
outstanding VAT balances were transferred to 
NOMS for settlement. 

1.15 Corporation Tax 
The Trust was a “corporate body” in accordance 
with the Offender Management Act 2007 supplying 
court work and offender management services to 
NOMS and the Ministry of Justice. These are not 
deemed as trading activities by HMRC and are not 
subject to corporation tax on them. However 
London Probation Trust was subject to 
Corporation Tax on income derived from bank and 
interest and any surpluses on sub contracted 
Community Payback work with SERCO. These 
accounts include estimates of corporation tax 
liabilities. 
 
Prior to the dissolution of the Trust, all known or 
unknown past, present and future balances in 
respect of corporation tax liabilities were 
transferred to NOMS for settlement. 

1.16 Cash and Cash Equivalents 
Cash and Cash Equivalents comprise cash in 
hand, that is readily convertible to a known amount 
of cash and is subject to insignificant risk of 
changes in value. 
 
Cash balances were transferred to NOMS prior to 
dissolution of the Trust. 

1.17 Financial instruments 
As the cash requirements of the Trust are met 
through the estimates process, financial 
instruments play a more limited role in creating risk 
than would apply to a non-public sector body of a 
similar size. The majority of financial instruments 
relate to contracts to buy non-financial items in line 
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with the Trust’s expected purchase and usage 
requirements as well as cash, receivables and 
payables. Therefore it is felt that the Trust was 
exposed to little credit, liquidity or market risk. 

1.18 Segmental analysis of spend as 
reported to the Management Board 
The segmental analysis presents the financial 
information based on the structure reported to the 
Trust’s Management Board. The segments reflect 
the Trust’s own individual structure allowing the 
Board to have a clear view on the costs of 
front-line operations. This is in accordance with 
IFRS 8 Segmental Reporting. Further detail is 
shown in Note 2. 

1.19 Third party assets 
The Trust held, as custodian or trustee, certain 
assets belonging to third parties. These assets are 
not recognised on the Statement of Financial 
Position and are disclosed within Note 24. These 
assets were returned to the donators prior to 
dissolution. 

1.20 Basis of allocation of balances from 
1 June 2014 
From 1 June 2014, the assets and liabilities of the 
Probation Trust were allocated between NOMS 
and the CRC as follows: 
 
Pensions 
From 1 June 2014 the Trust’s existing pension 
liabilities and corresponding assets were 
transferred to NOMS. 
 
The responsibility for funding the past service 
liabilities and all future contributions associated 
with those original employees who are active 
members of the LGPS have transferred with the 
employee to the new employer. NOMS ensures 
that the past service liabilities are fully funded on 
an ongoing basis from the date the employees 
transferred to the CRC. 
 
The Secretary of State for Justice has provided a 
guarantee to the GMPF in respect of the CRCs’ 
participation in the GMPF. 
 
The responsibility for funding the past service 
liabilities associated with the original employees 
who are deferred or pensioner members of the 
LGPS has transferred to NOMS. 
 

Leases and service contracts 
Property and IT leases remain within the Ministry 
of Justice. 
 
All other service contracts were transferred to the 
relevant entity based on where the services of that 
contract will be provided. Where the services are 
shared by both entities, in most cases the contract 
will have been transferred to the majority user. 
 
Staff related balances 
All staff related balances, not settled by the Trust 
shortly after 1 June 2014, were allocated to the 
relevant entity to which each staff member was 
transferred. 
 
All other balances 
Existing debtors and creditors that remained within 
the Trust were settled from existing funds. 
 
All other balances were allocated on a practical 
basis taking in to account future use, staff member 
allocation and services provided by that entity. 
 
Where an asset, liability or service was utilised by 
both entities it transferred to NOMS. 
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2. Statement of Operating Costs by Operating Segment 

 
Period to 31 

October 2014 
Year to 

31 March 2014
 Net Expenditure Net Expenditure
 £000 £000
Service Delivery Unit 2,893 16,854
Offender Management  12,030 75,883
Corporate Centre 6,477 40,136
CP Case Management  95 243
LPT Absorption Transfers (211,295) -
  
Total Net Expenditure (189,800) 133,116
  
Contract Income from NOMS  (18,285) (119,151)
  
Overspend/(Underspend) (208,085) 13,965
 
 
Operating costs are shown net of income, except for NOMS contract income. 
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3. Staff numbers and related costs 

3a. Staff costs consist of: 
 b

atio
n

 T
ru

st | P
eriod ending 31 O

ctober 2014 

 
Period to  

31 October 2014 
Year to 

31 March 2014

 Total
Permanently-

employed staff Others Total
 £000 £000 £000 £000
Wages and salaries 15,086 12,783 2,303 87,207
Social security costs 1,042 1,042 - 6,042
Other pension costs 2,598 2,598 - 16,954
Sub-total 18,726 16,423 2,303 110,203
Less recoveries in respect of outward secondments (601) (601) 0 (3,037)
Total staff costs 18,125 15,822 2,303 107,166
 
No staff (2013–14: 1 persons) retired early on ill-health grounds. 

3b. Average number of persons employed 
The average number of full time equivalent persons (including senior management) employed during the period was as follows: 
 

Period to  
31 May 2014 

Year to 
31 March 2014

Total
Permanently-

employed staff Others Total
2,525 2,196 329 2,398

 
921 FTE employees were transferred to the CRC and 1,268 FTE to NOMS on 1 June 2014. After 1 June, only Board members were in post. 
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3c. Reporting of compensation schemes – exit packages 
 

 
Period to  

31 October 2014 
Year to  

31 March 2014 

Exit packages cost band 

Number of 
compulsory 

redundancies

Number of other 
departures 

agreed

Total number of 
exit packages 
by cost band

Number of 
compulsory 

redundancies

Number of other 
departures 

agreed

Total number of 
exit packages 
by cost band 

<£10,000 - - - - 13 13 
£10,000–£25,000 - - - - 2 2 
£25,001–£50,000 - - - - 1 1 

£50,001–£100,000 - - - - 1 1 
£100,001–£150,000 - - - - - - 
£150,001–£200,000 - - - - - - 
£200,001–£250,000 - - - - 1 1 
£250,001–£300,000 - - - - - - 
£300,001–£350,000 - - - - - - 

Total number of exit packages by type - - - - 18 18 
  
Total resource cost £000 - - - - 445 445 
 
Redundancy and other departure costs have been paid in accordance with the Trust compensation scheme. Exit costs are accounted for in full 
in the year in which they are agreed. The additional costs of any early retirements are met from the Trust and not the pension scheme and are 
included in the above figures. Ill health retirement costs are met from the pension scheme and are excluded from the above table. 
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4. Pensions costs 

Until 31 May 2014 pension benefits were provided through the London Pension Fund Authority. The 
Fund is administered in accordance with the Local Government Pension Scheme Regulations 2007/08. 
It is intended to be a fully funded scheme which provides benefits on a final salary basis at a normal 
retirement age of 65. Members are eligible to retire earlier; either they meet the 85 year rule or have 
employers consent to leave prior to that age. Pensions are paid in line with the CPI index on benefits that 
have accrued at a rate of 1/60th of pensionable salary for each year of service up until 31 March 2014. 
From 1 April 2014 benefits have accrued at a rate of 1/49th of pensionable salary. 
 
The last full actuarial valuation was carried out at 31 March 2013. An updated desktop valuation was 
provided by the scheme’s actuaries at 31 March 2014 and reflected in the Trust’s 2013–14 accounts. 
For the period to 31 May 2014 these accounts reflect the contributions paid into the scheme and 
estimates of the benefits paid out of the scheme, the net interest charge, service costs and movements 
in the present value of pension obligations and the fair value of plan assets. 
 
As at 1 June 2014 the Trust’s pension liabilities and corresponding assets transferred to NOMS at their 
carrying value. 

4a. Pension costs 
A full actuarial valuation was carried out at 31 March 2013 by Barnett Waddingham. This full scheme 
valuation is undertaken every 3 years in order to review the employer’s contributions. The contribution 
rate reflects benefits as they are accrued, not when the costs are actually incurred and they reflect the 
past experience of the scheme. Members’ contributions ranged from 5% to 7%, dependent on salary 
band. For the two months to 31 May 2014 employer contributions were £2,440,382 (2013–14: 
£13,750,000). 
 
Contributions continued for Chief Executives who remained in post after 31 May until their appointment 
expired on 31 July 2014. 
 
Member contributions changed from 1 April 2014 and any benefits accrued from this date are based on 
a career average revalued earnings (CARE) basis, with various protections in place for those members 
in the scheme before the changes take effect. The Probation Trust was not required to pay employer 
contributions for those employees who transferred after it ceased operations on 31 May 2014. 
Contributions from 1 June 2014 are referred to in Note 1.11. 
 
A sensitivity analysis using data provided in the 31 March 2014 actuarial valuation was performed. 
The results of the sensitivity analysis were broadly analogous with market movements over the period 
and suggest that had an actuarial valuation been performed at 31 May 2014 the likely impact would 
have been an increase in the liability in the order of 2 per cent. Management assessed that this 
estimated impact is not significant to the £216.7m liability, and have therefore not commissioned 
an actuarial valuation as at 31 May 2014. 
 
Partnership accounts are excluded under IAS 19. 
 
The approximate employer’s pension contributions for the period to 31 May 2014 were 12.6% of salaries. 
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4b. The major assumptions used by the actuary at 31 March 2014 were: 
 
 2013–14 
 % 
Inflation assumption 2.8 
Rate of increase in salaries 4.6 
Rate of increase for pensions in payment and deferred pensions 2.8 
Discount rate 4.5 
 
Given the close proximity of the 31 May transfer date to the last roll forward valuation prepared by the 
Trust’s Actuaries, we have judged the 31 March 2014 assumptions used by the actuary to remain 
relevant. 
 
These assumptions have been used to estimate the movements for 31 May 2014 roll-forward and are 
considered to be reasonable. 
 
Mortality Assumptions: The post retirement mortality tables have been constructed based on Club Vita 
analysis. These base tables are then projected using the CMI 2012 Model allowing for a long term rate of 
improvement of 1.5 % per annum. 
 

4c. Movements in the defined benefit obligation during the period 
 
 Period to 31 October 2014 

 
Present value 
of obligation

Fair value of 
plan assets Total

 £000 £000 £000
Plan assets - 397,945 397,945
Funded liabilities (612,530) - (612,530)
Unfunded liabilities (5,891) - (5,891)
Opening balance at 1 April 2014 (618,421) 397,945 (220,476)
  
Current service costs  (2,598) - (2,598)
  
Net interest (cost)/income (4,495) 2,892 (1,603)
  
Remeasurements  

Returns on plan assets, excluding amounts included in 
interest expense / (income) 

- 5,509 5,509

Gain/(loss) from change in demographic assumptions - - -
Gain/(loss) from change in financial assumptions - - -
Experience gains/(losses) - - -

 5,509 5,509
Contributions  

Employers - 2,366 2,366
Plan participants (821) 821 -
Unfunded benefits - 73 73

Payments from plans  
Benefit payments 2,963 (3,037) (74)
Unfunded benefit payments 74 - 74

Balance at 31 May 2014 (623,298) 406,569 (216,729)
  
Transfer by absorption on 31 May 2014 623,298 (406,569) 216,729
  
Closing balance at 31 October 2014 - - -
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4c. Movements in the defined benefit obligation during the period (continued) 
 
 Year to 31 March 2014 

 
Present value 
of obligation

Fair value of 
plan assets Total

 £000 £000 £000
Plan assets - 383,701 383,701
Funded liabilities (604,000) - (604,000)
Unfunded liabilities (6,069) - (6,069)
Opening balance at 1 April 2013 (610,069) 383,701 (226,368)
  
Current service costs (16,350) (576) (16,926)
Past service costs (including curtailments) (28) - (28)
Gains and losses on settlements - - -
Total Service Costs (16,378) (576) (16,954)
  
Net interest (cost)/income (27,752) 17,663 (10,089)
  
Remeasurements  

Returns on plan assets, excluding amounts included in interest - (3,917) (3,917)
Gain/(loss) from change in demographic assumptions (249) - (249)
Gain/(loss) from change in financial assumptions (30,309) - (30,309)
Experience gains/(losses) 52,640 520 53,160

 22,082 (3,397) 18,685
Contributions  

Employers - 14,250 14,250
Plan participants (4,523) 4,523 -
Unfunded benefits - - -

Payments from plans  
Benefit payments 17,777 (18,219) (442)
Unfunded benefit payments 442 - 442

Closing balance at 31 March 2014 (618,421) 397,945 (220,476)
  
Plan assets - 397,945 397,945
Funded liabilities (612,530) - (612,530)
Unfunded liabilities (5,891) - (5,891)
Closing balance at 31 March 2014 (618,421) 397,945 (220,476)
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4d. Plan assets as at 31 March 2014 were comprised as follows 
 
 2013–14 
 Total 
 £000 %
  
Property  

Property funds 11,938 3%
 11,938 3%
  
Cash and cash equivalents 11,938 3%
  
Investment funds  

Equities 210,911 53%
Commodities 3,979 1%
Infrastructure 15,918 4%
Other - %

 230,808 58%
Other  
LDI/Cashflow matching 23,877 6%
Target return portfolio 119,384 30%
 143,261 36%
  
Total 397,945 100%
 
All plan assets transferred out of the Trust on 31 May 2014. Actuarial valuations of the pension liabilities 
for all 35 PTs were undertaken at the last financial year end, being 31 March 2014. The transfer date of 
31 May 2014 includes two months of pension movements after the actuarial valuations were completed. 
The approach taken by NOMS gives an estimate of the transfer value rather than an actual value. 
Accordingly a breakdown of plan assets at the transfer date cannot be given. 
 
 
 

5. Taxation 

 
Period to 31 

October 2014 
Year to 

31 March 2014
 £000 £000
UK corporation tax (16) (59)
Total (16) (59)
 
The Trust is a ‘corporate body’ in accordance with the Offender Management Act 2007 supplying court 
work and offender management services to NOMS, the Ministry of Justice and others. These are not 
deemed as trading activities by HMRC and are not subject to corporation tax on them. However, London 
Probation Trust was subject to Corporation Tax on income derived from bank interest and any surpluses 
on sub contracted Community Payback work with Serco. 
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6. Other Expenditure 

 Period to 31 October 2014 Year to 31 March 2014 
 £000 £000 £000 £000 
Rentals under operating leases 16 148  
Accommodation, maintenance and utilities 254 9,506  
Travel, subsistence and hospitality 210 1,038  
Professional services 171 1,586  
IT services (61) 4,633  
Communications, office supplies and services 377 1,792  
Other staff related 368 1,964  
Offender costs 729 2,730  
Other expenditure 1,703 1,277  
External Auditors’ remuneration – statutory accounts 141 141  
External Auditors’ remuneration – other - 19  
Internal Auditors’ remuneration - 90  
 3,908 24,924 
  
Non-cash items  
Depreciation of tangible non-cash assets 40 241  
Amortisation of intangible non-current assets  80 477  
Other provisions provided in year - (4)  
Early retirement provisions not required - 120 - 714 
Total 4,028 25,638 

b
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n
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st | P

eriod ending 31 O
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The prior period comparatives include recharges from MoJ/NOMS for Internal Audit, IT and Estates costs; these recharges were not made in 
the period to 31 October 2014. 
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7. Income 

 Period to 31 October 2014 Year to 31 March 2014 
 £000 £000 £000 £000 
Income receivable from the sponsoring department – NOMS 18,285 119,151  
 18,285 119,151 
  
Other EU income 418 2,513  
Other income received from Probation Trusts 5 212  
Other income from NOMS 8 485  
Other income from rest of MoJ Group 32 83  
Other income from other government departments 427 2,165  
Miscellaneous income 1,341 4,164  
 20,516 128,773 
  
Interest received:  

From bank 14 96  
Total interest received 14 96 
  
Total income 20,530 128,869 
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8. Property, plant and equipment 

 Period to 31 October 2014 

 
Information 
technology

Plant and 
machinery

Transport 
equipment

Furniture, 
fixtures and 

fittings Total 
 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 
Cost or valuation  
As at 1 April 2014 886 1,294 41 734 2,955 
Additions - - - - - 
Disposals - - - - - 
Transfers to NOMS (18) (1,294) (41) (734) (2,087) 
Transfers to CRC (868) (868) 
As at 31 October 2014 - - - - - 
  
Depreciation  
As at 1 April 2014 391 1,072 6 614 2,083 
Charge in year 23 11 1 5 40 
Disposals - - - - - 
Transfers to NOMS (6) (1,083) (7) (619) (1,715) 
Transfers to CRC (408) - - - (408) 
As at 31 October 2014 - - - - - 
  
Carrying value as at 31 October 2014 - - - - - 
Carrying value as at 31 March 2014 495 222 35 120 872 
  
Asset financing - - - - - 
Owned - - - - - 
Carrying value as at 31 October 2014 - - - - - 
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8. (Continued) 

 2013–14 

 
Information 
technology

Plant and 
machinery

Transport 
equipment

Furniture, 
fixtures and 

fittings Total 
 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 
Cost or valuation  
As at 1 April 2013 392 1,321 41 681 2,435 
Additions 498 15 - 44 557 
Disposals - (37) - (37) 
Indexation/revaluation (4) (5) - 9 - 
As at 31 March 2014 886 1,294 41 734 2,955 
  
Depreciation  
As at 1 April 2013 249 1,051 - 578 1,878 
Charge in year 144 62 6 29 241 
Disposals - (37) - - (37) 
Indexation/revaluation (2) (4) - 7 1 
As at 31 March 2014 391 1,072 6 614 2,083 
  
Carrying value as at 31 March 2014 495 222 35 120 872 
Carrying value as at 31 March 2013 143 270 41 103 557 
  
Asset financing  
Owned 495 222 35 120 872 
Carrying value as at 31 March 2014 495 222 35 120 872 
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9. Intangible assets 

 Period to 31 October 2014 
 Software Licences Total
 £000 £000 £000
Cost or valuation  
As at 1 April 2014 1,765 639 2,404
Additions - - -
Transfers to CRC (1,765) (639) (2,404)
Indexation/revaluation - - -
As at 31 October 2014 - - -
  
Amortisation  
As at 1 April 2014 1,386 497 1,883
Charge in year 59 21 80
Transfers to CRC (1,445) (518) (1,963)
Indexation/revaluation - - -
As at 31 October 2014 - - -
  
Carrying value as at 31 October 2014 - - -
Carrying value as at 31 March 2014 379 142 521
  
Asset financing  
Owned - - -
Carrying value as at 31 October 2014 - - -
 
 
 2013–14 
 Software Licences Total
 £000 £000 £000
Cost or valuation  
As at 1 April 2013 1,758 612 2,370
Additions - 25 25
Indexation/revaluation 7 2 9
As at 31 March 2014 1,765 639 2,404
  
Amortisation  
As at 1 April 2013 1,030 369 1,399
Charge in year 351 126 477
Indexation/revaluation 5 2 7
As at 31 March 2014 1,386 497 1,883
  
Carrying value as at 31 March 2014 379 142 521
Carrying value as at 31 March 2013 728 243 971
  
Asset financing  
Owned 379 142 521
Carrying value as at 31 March 2014 379 142 521
 
 
 

10. Impairments 

There were no impairments in the year 2014–15 (2013–14: £nil). 
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11. Trade receivables and other current assets 

11a. Analysis by type 
 

 
31 October 

2014 31 March 2014
 £000 £000
Amounts falling due within one year  
Trade receivables - 350
Deposits and advances - 190
Receivables, Accrued Income and Prepayments due from NOMS Agency - 4,484
Receivables, Accrued Income and Prepayments due from MoJ Group - 552
Prepayments  - 67
Accrued income - 768
 - 6,411
  
Amounts falling due after more than one year - -
  
Total - 6,411
 

11b. Intra-Government receivables 
 

 
Amounts falling due within 

one year 
Amounts falling due after more 

than one year 

 
31 October 

2014 31 March 2014
31 October 

2014 31 March 2014
 £000 £000 £000 £000
Balances with other central Government 
bodies (inc. parent department) 

- 4,514 - -

Balances with local authorities - 379 - -
Balances with NHS bodies - 143 - -
 - 5,036 - -
Balances with bodies external to 
Government 

- 1,375 - -

Total - 6,411 - -
 
 
 

12. Cash and cash equivalents 

 
Period to 31 

October 2014 2013–14
 £000 £000
  
Balance at 1 April 8,494 11,796
Transfers to NOMS (5,137) -
Transfers to CRC - -
Net change in cash and cash equivalents (3,356) (3,302)
Balance at 31 October / 31 March 1 8,494
  
The following balances at 31 March are held at:  
Commercial banks and cash in hand 1 8,494
Balance at 31 October / 31 March 1 8,494
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13. Trade payables and other current liabilities 

13a. Analysis by type 
 

 
31 October 

2014 31 March 2014
Amounts falling due within one year (excluding taxation) £000 £000
Trade payables - 1,176
Accruals - 3,840
Deferred income  - 1,690
Staff payables - 10
Payables due to Probation Trusts - 4
Payables, Accruals and Deferred Income due to NOMS Agency - 12
Payables, Accruals and Deferred Income due to MoJ Group - 68
Payables, Accruals and Deferred Income due to other Government 
departments 

- 135

 - 6,935
  
Tax falling due within one year  
VAT - 2,509
Corporation tax - (29)
Other taxation and social security - -
 - 2,480
  
Total amounts falling due within one year - 9,415
  
Amounts falling due after more than one year - -
  
Total - 9,415
 

13b. Intra-Government payables 
 

 
Amounts falling due within 

one year 
Amounts falling due after more 

than one year 

 
31 October 

2014 31 March 2014
31 October 

2014 31 March 2014
 £000 £000 £000 £000
Balances with other central Government 
bodies (inc. parent department) 

- 2,564 - -

Balances with local authorities - 134 - -
Balances with NHS bodies - 1 - -
Balances with public corporations and 
trading funds 

- - - -

 - 2,699 - -
Balances with bodies external to 
Government 

- 6,716 - -

Total - 9,415 - -
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14. Provisions for liabilities and charges 

 Period to 31 October 2014 

 

Early 
retirements 

costs
Other 

Provisions Total
 £000 £000 £000
Balance at 1 April - - -
Transfers to NOMS  - - -
Transfers to CRCs - - -
Provided in year - - -
Provisions not required written back - - -
Provision utilised in the year - - -
Unwinding of discount - - -
Balance as at 31 October 2014 - - -
 
 2013–14 

 

Early 
retirements 

costs
Other 

Provisions Total
 £000 £000 £000
Balance at 1 April - 4 4
Provided in year - - -
Provisions not required written back - (4) (4)
Provision utilised in the year - - -
Unwinding of discount - - -
Balance as at 31 March - - -
 
 
 

15. Capital commitments 

The Trust had no capital commitments at the reporting date £nil (2013–14: £nil). 
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16. Commitments under leases 

16a. Operating leases 
Total future minimum lease payments under operating leases are given in the table below for each of the 
following periods: 
 
Obligations under operating leases for the following periods comprise: 
 

 
31 October 

2014 31 March 2014
Other £000 £000
Not later than one year - 70
Later than one year and not later than five years - 9
Later than five years - -
Total - 79
 
The Trust had no operating leases as at the 31 October 2014. The photocopier lease which was current 
at 1 June 2014 was transferred to the CRC on the basis of majority use. 

16b. Finance leases 
The Trust had not entered into any finance leases as at 31 October 2014 (2013–14: £nil). 
 
 
 

17. Other financial commitments 

The Trust had no other financial commitments at 31 October 2014 (2013–14: £nil). 
 
 
 

18. Financial instruments 

As the cash requirements of the Trust were met through the estimates process, financial instruments 
played a more limited role in creating risk than would apply to a non-public sector body of a similar size. 
The majority of financial instruments relate to contracts to buy non-financial items in line with the Trust’s 
expected purchase and usage requirements as well as cash, receivables and payables. Therefore it is 
felt that the Trust was exposed to little credit, liquidity or market risk. 
 
 
 

19. Contingent liabilities 

The Trust identified a contingent liability in May 2014 arising from a claim from a supplier of IT licences 
for finance and human resources software. The claim is disputed and LPT is supported in this view by 
Crown Commercial Services”. 
 
In addition, there was one employment tribunal outstanding, although with reasonable prospects of 
defending the claim. These liabilities disclosed transferred to NOMS on the 31 October 2014. 
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20. Losses and special payments 

 
 Period to 31 October 2014 Year to 31 March 2014 

Losses 
Number of 

cases
Total value 

£000
Number of 

cases 
Total value 

£000
Cash losses 32 22 6 1
Claims abandoned - - - -
Administrative write-offs 1 2 2 1
Total losses 33 24 8 2
  
  
Special payments - - - -
 
No individual loss or special payment in the period exceeded £300,000 (2013–14: £nil). 
 
 
 

21. General fund 

 
Period to 31 

October 2014 
Year to 

31 March 2014
 £000 £000
Balance at 1 April (213,736) (218,456)
Prior period adjustment  
Balance restated at 1 April (213,736) (218,456)
  
Financing - -
  
Net transfers from Operating / Non Operating Activities:  
Statement of Comprehensive Net Expenditure 208,085 (13,965)
Transfer from revaluation reserve 143 -
Re-measurement of post employment benefits 5,509 18,685
  
Balance at 31 October / 31 March 1 (213,736)
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22. Revaluation reserve 

22a. Property, plant and equipment 
 

 
Period to 31 

October 2014 
Year to 

31 March 2014
 £000 £000
Balance at 1 April 94 95
Prior period adjustment  
Balance restated at 1 April 94 95
  
Arising on revaluations of PPE during the year (net) - (1)
Transfer to NPS/CRC (94) -
  
Balance at 31 October / 31 March - 94
 
The revaluation reserve was transferred to the general fund as part of the absorption accounting 
transfers to NOMS. 
 

22b. Intangibles 
 

 
Period to 31 

October 2014 
Year to 

31 March 2014
 £000 £000
Balance at 1 April 49 47
Prior period adjustment  - -
Balance restated at 1 April 49 47
  
Arising on revaluations of intangibles during the year (net) - 2
Transfer to NPS/CRC  (49) -
  
Balance at 31 October / 31 March - 49
 
The revaluation reserve was transferred to the general fund as part of the absorption accounting 
transfers to NOMS. 
 
 
 

52 



Period ending 31 October 2014 | London Probation Trust 

23. Related party transactions 

NOMS, the Ministry of Justice and CRC’s are regarded as related parties. During the period the Trust 
had various material transactions with NOMS, the Ministry of Justice and CRC’s. Additionally, the Trust 
had transactions with other Trusts, other government bodies and third party organisations. 
 
During the period, former members of the Management Board, former members of key management 
staff or other related parties, or their related parties undertook material transactions with the Trust as 
detailed: 
 
Name LPT Role Related Party Organisation Role  LPT Expenditure

CALM Mediator  £2,600
Probation Chiefs’ Association Company Secretary £595

Paul Davies Governance 
Director 

Probation Institute  Company Secretary £3,030
 

Mutuals 
The London Probation Trust was not involved in developing a mutual venture to bid as either a prime or 
sub contractor as part of the privatisation of probation services. An employee of London Probation Trust 
set up a legal entity called RISE Mutual CIC, which was successfully in its bid to become a subcontractor 
providing intervention services. London Probation had no financial transactions with RISE Mutual CIC. It 
funded internal finance and HR advice to the value of £37,019 (2013–2014: £83,052), as part of the day 
to day support to ongoing intervention services. 
 
 
 

24. Third-party assets 

These are not Trust’s assets and are not included in the accounts. The assets held at the reporting 
period date comprised monetary assets, such as bank balances and monies on deposit, listed securities, 
trust funds, amenity funds. They are set out in the table below. All residual third party assets were 
transferred to NOMS or CRC prior to the dissolution of the Trust. 
 

 
As at 1 

April 2014 
Funds paid 

in 
Funds paid 

out 
Transfer to 

NOMS 
Transfer to 

CRC 

As at 31 
October 

2014
 £000 £000 £000 £000  £000
RBS Bank Accounts  51 - 51 - - -
    
 51 - 51 - - -
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25. Events occurring after the reporting period 

In accordance with the requirements of IAS 10, events after the reporting period are considered up to the 
date on which the accounts are authorised for issue. This is interpreted as the date of the Audit 
Certificate of the Comptroller and Auditor General. 
 
As at the date of the Audit Certificate, no reportable events had occurred. 
 
 
 

26. Transfers under absorption accounting 

A disaggregation exercise was carried out on the Trust’s SoFP as at 31 May 2014, which assigned 
the majority of balances to the CRC or NOMS. See Notes 1.3 and 1.20 for details of the rationale. 
In accordance with the FReM, such transfers were accounted for using the absorption method. 
 
Certain balances were retained in the Trust to be settled prior to dissolution. Any residual unsettled 
balances were transferred to NOMS or CRC prior to dissolution under absorption accounting. 
 
Under absorption accounting, balances are transferred at carrying value on the date of transfer. The total 
gain or loss on absorption, which reflects the net assets or liabilities being transferred, is recognised as a 
non-operating cost in the SoCNE. 
 
The total assets and liabilities transferred from the Trust to NOMS and the CRC during the period to 
31 October 2014 were: 
 

 
 Transfers to 

NOMS
Transfers to 

CRC  Total transfers
 Note £000 £000 £000
Non-current assets  
Property, plant and equipment  8 (372) (460) (832)
Intangible assets 9 - (441) (441)
   
Current assets   
Trade and other receivables  (443) (115) (558)
Cash and cash equivalents 12 (5,137) - (5,137)
   
Current liabilities   
Trade and other payables  859 675 1,534
Provisions 14 - - -
Taxation payables  - - -
   
Non-current liabilities   
Pension liability 4 216,729 - 216,729
Total transfers  211,636 (341) 211,295
   
Net (gain)/loss on absorption SoCNE  (211,295)
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Accounts Direction 

ACCOUNTS OF LOCAL PROBATION TRUSTS IN ENGLAND AND WALES 
ACCOUNTS DIRECTION GIVEN BY THE SECRETARY OF STATE IN ACCORDANCE WITH 
PARAGRAPHS 3(1)(a) AND 3(4)(a) OF THE OFFENDER MANAGEMENT ACT 2007 (DISSOLUTION 
OF PROBATION TRUSTS) ORDER 2014 
 
1. This direction applies to the Local Probation Trusts (the Trusts) listed in the attached Appendix 1. 
 
2. Each Trust shall prepare a statement of accounts for the period from 1 April 2014 to 31 October 

2014, in compliance with the accounting principles and disclosure requirements of the 2014–15 
Government Financial reporting Manual (“the FReM”) issued by HM Treasury. 

 
3. The accounts shall be prepared so as to: 

 give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the Trust as at the financial year-end and of the 
comprehensive net expenditure, changes in taxpayers’ equity and cash flows for the reporting 
period and have been properly prepared in accordance with the Offender Management Act 2007; 

 provide disclosure of any material expenditure or income that has not been applied to the 
purposes intended by Parliament or material transactions that have not conformed to the 
authorities which govern them; 

 be on a basis other than that of a going concern. 
 
4. Compliance with the requirements of the FReM will, in all but exceptional circumstances, be 

necessary for the accounts to give a true and fair view. If, in these exceptional circumstances, 
compliance with the requirements of the FReM is inconsistent with the requirement to give a true and 
fair view, the requirements of the FReM should be departed from only to the extent necessary to give 
a true and fair view. In such cases, informed and unbiased judgement should be used to devise an 
appropriate alternative treatment which should be consistent with both the economic characteristics 
of the circumstances concerned and the spirit of the FReM. Any material departure from the FReM 
should be discussed in the first instance with NOMS Agency finance team and HM Treasury. 

 
5. Additionally the Trusts shall be required to comply with all Probation Communication Notices to the 

extent that they build on the requirement of the FReM subject to the directions in paragraph 4. 
 
6. This direction supersedes that provided by the Secretary of State to Probation Trusts dated 

18 February 2014. 
 

 
 
On behalf of the Secretary of State for the Ministry of Justice 
21 October 2014 
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Appendix 1 

35 Probation Trusts: 
 
Avon and Somerset 
Bedfordshire 
Cambridgeshire and Peterborough 
Cheshire 
Cumbria 
Derbyshire 
Devon and Cornwall 
Dorset 
Durham Tees Valley 
Essex 
Gloucestershire 
Greater Manchester 
Hampshire 
Hertfordshire 
Humberside 
Kent 
Lancashire 
Leicestershire and Rutland 
Lincolnshire 
London 
Merseyside 
Norfolk and Suffolk 
Northamptonshire 
Northumbria 
Nottinghamshire 
South Yorkshire 
Staffordshire and West Midlands 
Surrey and Sussex 
Thames Valley 
Wales 
Warwickshire 
West Mercia 
West Yorkshire 
Wiltshire 
York and North Yorkshire 
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